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(Taken pursuant to the FRCP & the TRP; Witness
to read and sign.)
(Fontana Exhibits Nos. 8 through 13 marked.)
ROBERT FONTANA
having been first duly sworn, testified as follows:
EXAMINATION

QUESTIONS BY MR, HILL:

Q. Sir, could you state your name for the record,
please?

A. Rokbert Fontana.

Q. And how are you currently employed?

A. I'm employed with Independent Marketing Alliance.

a. Okay. 1Is that a party to this opposition
preceeding?

a. Yes.

Q. And it's the party that has applied for the

Cobblestone Market?

A, Yes.
. Just briefly, what is your educational background?
A. I graduated in 1982 from Cornell University Scheool

of Hotel Administration.

Q. What emphasis did you have when you were at
Cornell?
A. It was a business curriculum slanted towards the

hospitality field.
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0. After school what did vou do next in that field of

work?
A. I joined Sysco Corporation.
Q. And what year would that be?
A. 1982.
Q. And how long did you work for Sysco Corporation?
A. Approximately 20G years.
Q. And what did you do while you were at Sysco?
A. Various capacities starting with a sales position

for six years, moved intoc brand management for two years, and
then transferred to their corporate headquarters in Houston
where I ran their frozen procurement department for
approximately 12 years.

Q. And does Sysco focus on ény particular segment of
the market?

A. Sysco focuses on all segments of the food service
market.

Q. And is there a distinction between food service
market and some other market?

A. Very much so and in our business food service is a
separate channel from the retail channel and completely

different businesses.

Q. Give us some examples of the food service channel.
A. Food service is typically distributed to
institutional end users, schools, hospitals, restaurants. The
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goods are typically distributed in bulk packages as opposed to
retail, which is consumer-driven, through grocery store outlets
in smaller consumer coriented packages.

Q. So, for example, if yéu were to leook at Anderscn —-
and we've utilized the numbering system to be able to refer
back to Janis Anderson's trial testimony, or I guess it's going
to be Volume 2, from a few days ago where they introduced their
packaging, it's Anderson Exhibit No. 12. If you would look at

that for a moment. What type of a package would you call that?

A. That 1s a typical retail style package.

Q. Ckay. And how many rolls cor buns are in that
package?

A. There are six according to this exhibit.

0. I'm sorry, you said you -- that that's -- vou call

it a retail pack?

A. Yes.

O. Is that the kind of paékaging that you would find
when you were at Sysco?

A, No, the pack size at Sysco in a foed service pack
is much larger and typically that would be prébably 12 dozen,
144 but they're bulk packages versus six individual rolls.

Q. Okay. And does each plastic bag have some kind of
packaging on it. when you were at Sysco for this type of a
product or was it on the box instead of the plastic bag?

A, It can be both depending on the supplier. You can
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have preprinted internal packaging or you can have generic
plain poly. It really depends on the supplier.
0. Is there a distinction between the food service

segment of the market then and what I think you referred to as

retail?
A. Very much so.
Q. -Could you describe the distinction with the retail

as compared to the food service?

A. Again, retail is targeted at the houseshold, the
household consumer for food to be purchased and brought home.
Food service institutional distribution focuses on delivering
bulk goods to again restaurants, hotels, schecols, hospitals,
institutional establishments.

0. In the food service business who are the decision
makers to buy product?

A, Typically the restaurant cwner or the food service
director at a hotel or a chef at a restaurant would be the
typical buyer.

o. When you were at Sysco where did Sysco aim its
branding advertising?

A. To -- to those individuals I Jjust menticoned. They
want that chef or that food service director to recognize their
brand and their products.

Q. In the retail segment of the market as contrasted

with the food service, do you know who is —-- who the
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advertising is typically targeted toward?

A Typically towards the head of the household.
Typically the female head of the household would be the major
decision maker when it comes to the purchase at a retail
grocery store.

Q. You heard Ms. Anderson's testimony a few days ago,
correct?

A. Yes.

0. And do you recall her describing the advertising of

Flowers where they targeted?

A, Yes, I do.

Q. And where was that was your understanding?

A. That was targeted towards.a female upscale
consumer .

Q. Is any of the targeted advertising while you were

at Sysco and managing their brands in any way comparable to or
overlap the targeted advertising you heard Ms. Andersocn talk

about that Flowers utilizes?

A. In no way, shape, or form was 1t in any ways
comparable.

0. Ckavy. You said you stayed with Sysco for 20 years?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. After you left Sysco where did you go?

A. I left Syscoc and went to Independent Marketing

Alliance.
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Q. I uvnderstand you said Sysco was a food service
distributor. What doces IMA and its member constituents do?

A. IMA is owned by six independent distributors. They
are our member owners.

Q. And if you take IMA and its member owners together,
are they comparable to Sysco in terms of the market and the
business model?

A, As far as the actual model from each individual
distributor, yes.

Q. So what is the business of IMA and its member -- is
it fair to say member constituents or member owners?

A. Member owners would be a good term.

C. Okay. What business are they in as contrasted with
Sysco? Just --

A. They are in the same business, that is, food

service distribution to that institutional food service

customer.
Q. . Are they in the retail business?
A, No, ocur member owners are not -- one member owner

does have a dairy that they do market to a retail segment but
our specific six member owners, as -- as they exist, are food

service oriented.

0. Similar fTo Sysco?
A, Yes.

Q. And so what did you start doing when vou first came
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to work at IMA? I'm just golng tc use IMA unless the context
requires otherwise to refer to IMA itself, as well as its

constituent member owners, is that fair?

AL That's fair.

Q. Okay. Sco when you joined IMA, what initially did
yeou do?

A. Basically two areas I focused on were the marketing

and the merchandising aspects of IMA.

Q. What advantage does IMA bring to its member owners?
I mean what's the basic éoncept of that?

A. Twofold. We roll up their volumes and we take
those volumes and shep them by category in the -- in the food
service supplier arena to get them the best cost of goods.

Q. Are you -- do vyou have any focus con developing or
premeoting particular brands or trademarks and labels?

A. That is the second portion of what we do. We
provide them with their own proprietary brands that we as a
group come up with to provide them with their own franchise
proprietary stand-alone brands in the marketplace to go¢ against
Sysco and their cother competitors who have similar private
label brands.

o. In general, how -- what comes first? De you come
up with the brand first or do you come up with a category of
goods? I mean what's -- let's say potato chips or potato

salad, whatever, how does that work?
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A. Let me explain. We are governed by committees set
up from our member owners. We at IMA act as facilitators and
we let various boards make the decisions that they want to
guide their organization. So there is a procurement advisory
council made up of senior purchasing people that determine what
categories that they would like to pursue under a private
brand. Then there is a marketing and advisory ccouncil that is
made up of senior marketing execs of the company's that create
brand ﬁositions and fit the products into the those brand
positions so they work in tandem to develop these brands and
determine the needs.

Q. And so is it, in layman's terms, that you develop a
product or a group of products that the decision maker may
desire to pursue under a particular brand?

Al Yes.

Q. What's the general process for deing that cnce a
category or a group of products has been selected for branding?

A. We determine that there is a need for & branding
positicon and we employ the assistance of an outside éd agency
called Newhall Klein and Newhall Klein will create ideation for

review by the MAC council for consideration.

Q. And that process takes a little while typically?
. Typically it does.
Q. And then after that what's the next stage or what

needs to be decided in order to even go to the next stage?
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Al Well, once we have a list of potential brand names
the ad agency runs them through variocus trademark searches to
make sure those marks are clean on the top line basis and we

can pursue a occult list of potential names.

Q. And then what happens Jjust generally next?
A. Generally next we'll refer to our attorneys for
further review to make sure those marks are clear. We want to

make certain that our marks are clean and clear and we can move
forward with a clear conscience.

Q. Has Bartt Thompson been your attorney for handling
that process for at least the last few years?

AL Yes.

0. And even though you don't know in detail mavbe
everything he does, do you have a general idea of what he does

to look at the trademark issues?

AL Yes.
Q. And what is that?

A. That is, again, utilize the resources of a
trademark attormey to research as thoroughly as possible the
cleanliness of a potential mark.

Q. In a typical type of a situation wifh iMA in terms
of developing a brand, is it the situation that IMA doesn't
really care if there's confusion in the marketplace with its
brand or is it important to IMA that it have brand awareness

and that it be able to build its brand?
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A, It's very important that there's brand awareness
and that the market is again not -- is going to be a clean
market.

Q. OCkay. 1In the particular situation that we're here

for today, you understand that IMA has requested and applied
for a trademark Ccbblestone Market, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And did you have some personal involvement in that
process?

AL Yes,.

0. If you could, just briefly tell us how that came
out and I have -~ I have marked as Exhibits 8 through 9, 10,
11, 12, and 13 as Fontana exhibits. We have done it this way
for simplification. We'll use those same exhibits for other
testimeny in this case. So all of them may not necessarily be

your exhibits but as you come across my questions and need to

refer to any of these feel free to do so. Qkay?
A. Ckay.
Q. The first exhibit that may or may not be helpful to

you is Exhibit 8, which is an e-mail with Sandy Klein from

Klein Newhall or Newhall Klein that's marked as Exhibit No. 8.

Could you -- before you look at the document or just before you

start talking about the document, in general what was going on
that caused IMA and its member owners to desire a brand which

ultimately turned out to be the Cobblestone Market brand?
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A. Well, again, we were trying tc determine a, a, a
brard for a line of deli products, food service delii products
that would be acceptable to the group.

Q. Okay. And so somebody determined that vou needed
to have a brand for would you say a food service line of deli

products?

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay. And was your commitiee -- I -~

a. The marketing advisory councilf

Q. Okay.

B, We refer to it as the MAC.

Q. M-A-C?

A, M-A-C.

Q. And so that was the job that -- were you assigned

that job or -—-

A. I --— I'm assigned the task to oversee the process
of the brand development toc make sure that the MACZ committee is
moving along, ﬁhat the ad agency is timely in what they're
charged to do. T facilitate the process.

0. Ckay. Sco if you lock at Exhibit 8, does that
refresh your recollection of some of the issues that were
breught up either by you or the ad agency?

A. Yes .

Q. What in general was going on at that Lime that you

sent this e-mail?

Compex Legal Services

Defendant IMA's Trial Téstiffiory S Robert Fontana

10

10

10

10

i0

10

10

10

10

190

i0

10

10

10C

10

10

10

10

10

1C

10

10

10

10

10



TN,

L/\\:

10
11
1z
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

15

Aa. Again, I referred to the first calling of the
initial list, the first top line search to determine if there
are any potential problems with the brands that have been
initially offered.

Q. Okay. S0 we look at No. 8, Exhibit No. 8, we're
referring to it as Fontana Exhibit 8, this is sort of the

report from Sandy Klein?

A. (Witness reading.)
Q. Is this e-mail from Sandy Klein?
A. Oh, I'm sorry. There was a qguesticn in there. I

believe it is.

Q. The second page says Sandy Klein. The first page

looks like it says to Rob?

A. Yeah, "Best regards Sandy." Yes, you're right.
Q. Okay. And it was a copy =-- CC'd to you, what it

appears to be on the front page?

A, Yes. No, Bobk Planck.

Q. I'm sorry, maybe that's why you don't recognize it
much. Have you seen this document before?

A No.

Q. Have you typically seen these types of documents

where they list out various marks and any kind of potential
issues, like the number of hits on a particular word, for
example?

A. Typically I will.
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Q. But you don't have any recollection of seeing this
particular document before?

A. This specific document, no.

Q. Did you have an understanding of the content even
if you don't remember this specific document before?

A. Yes, this is typical of the processes we go through
on all ocur brands we develop.

0. Do you have any recollecticn of -- I see the word

Oakwood on here and 1t says it has 62 hits and it talks about

Oakwecod Foods out of New York. Do you remember anythiﬁg about
Oakﬁood?

A, You know, T don't. I view this process really from
a 20 thousand foot view. I rely heavily on the advice of our

ad agency and cur attorneys to guide us to the correct
conclusions. I do not guestion the findings of the

professionals when they bring us results.

0. Now who is Sandy Klein again?

A. She's the owner of Newhall Klein.

Q. And Newhall Klein is?

A, Our ad agency.

Q. And how long have they been your ad agency for?
A. Oh, approximately I would say five out of the six

yearé out of IMA's existence.
Q. So just in big terms, your ad agency sort of gives

it the first pass; is that right?
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A. That is correct.

0. And even-if you don't know the details of this
particular document, was there a sort of first pass approval by
the ad agency to go forward with the Cobblestone Market brand?

A, Yes.

0. So.then Exhibit 9, I don't know if you've seen this
document either since it also is referenced to Bob Planck.

Have you seen Exhibit 9 before?

A. No.

0. Okay. Even 1f you haven't seen it, have you
participated in a discussion of Cobblestone Corner at some
point in time?

A. I do recall that.

Q. What's your general recollection of the mark
Cobblestone Corner?

A, That mark was rejected as being not a clean mark to
pursue.

Q. And who actually rejected it? It wasn't the Patent
and Trademark Office, was it?

A. No, it was the MAC committee upon consideration
from the recohmendations of Newhall Klein and I believe your --
this agency, this law firm.

0. Ckay. And do you know what the consideraticons were
that you gave as instructions or Mr. Planck gave as

instructicns for trying to determine whether a mark would go
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forward cr not go forward?

A. Again, I don't. I take it at face value when we
are told that the mark is not clean that we are not —-- we're
probably not going to pursue that avenue and opt for something
that is a clean mark that will give us a clean brand down the
road.

Q. So is it that the -- the initial.issue was to see
if we could pursue Cobblestone Corner?

A. That is correct.

0. And at some point it came back what, that

Cobblestone Market would be better?

A. ‘That is my recollection, ves.

0. And iess troublesome?

A. That is my recollection, ves.

C. Whether it be Cobblestone Corner or the Cobblestone

Mérket, what was the image IMA and its member owners were
trying to evoke in the minds of someone who wquld see that
mark?

A, We were trying to create a image of an
old-fashioned deli, neighborhood deli, neighborhood marketplace
where you could go and get fresh meats and cheeses. That's
what we were trying to accomplish. Yeah, my -- as you Xnow,
under our brand pesitioning statement, to elaborate on that,
you know, under Ccbblestone Market our brand positioning

statement is "Cobblestone Market is the place for delicious
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deli meats, cheeses, pickles, fresh salads, and more. Qur
premium quality and consistency will remind everyone of their
favorite neighborhood deli.”

Q. Is that what's currently on youf Web site?

A. Yes.

MR. DAVIS: Marty, just like to note for the
record the witness is reading from a piece of paper. Can we
marked that as exhibit?

MR. HILL: Yezh, I don't have any obijection.
We can mark that as No. 14 if you want to.

(Fontana Exhibit No. 14 marked.)

Q. {By Mr. Hill) So you read from Exhibit 14,
correct?

A, Correct.

0. And when you came up with Exhibit 14, was that by

having someone lcok at the Web site and read it to you

verbatim?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that a position statement that you recall?
A, Yes.

Q. Was it prompted by your examination of a

positioning statement that was produced during Ms. Anderson's
deposition testimony, which I think is marked as Anderson
Exhibit, is it 107

A, Yes. Yes, it was.
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Q. . And so after you read the positicning statement of
Janis Anderson, and really it's the pesitioning statement of
Flowers Bakeries, as it relates o their Cobblestone Mill brand
and mark that that prompted you to think about your own
positiconing statement?

A. Yes, it did.

Q. Did you see any overlap between the positioning
statement of Ms. Anderson, as articulated in Anderson Exhibit
10, versus what's going to be Planck Exhibit 14, which is the
positioning statement of IMA?

A, None whatsoever.

Q. Exhibits 10, 11, and 12, which are in front of you,
are documents that are actually out of the Patent and Trademark
Office file. Were you the primary perscn involved with that
process or was Mr. Planck?

A. Mr. Planck I believe was more inveolved in this
process than I was.

Q. I'll save these questions then for Mr. Planck.
Let's go tc Bxhibit 13, which is a sample of your logo and
actually it's the same logo I believe as Exhibit No. 6. You
can look at Exhibit No. 6 if you want to. This was -- we're
puliing in Exhibit 6 from the first velume of your deposition
and I believe that to be the same stylistic, to the extent a
stylistic mark, the same logo as you see in Exhibit 13,

correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. Generally describe that mark. Not just the word
mark but the Confext the trade dress in which it's depicted.

A. Again as I described, we're trying to depict an
old-fashioned market type deli that invokes the old world
goodness in what we're trying to offer.

Q. And i1f you look at Anderson Exhibit Neo. 12, and you
were at Ms. Anderson's depositiqn, right?

A, Yes.

Q. Her trial testimony, and if you look at the left
side of Anderson Exhibit 12, you will see their Cobblestcone

Mill mark. Dc¢ you see that?

A. Yes, I do.
O. And do you see what I think Ms. Anderson referred
te as a relatively busy depiction of a -- of an old gristmill

or mill?

A. It's vague but T can see it.

Q. Okay. And have you.seen better pictures of that
than the one that's Exhibit 12 before?

A. No. |

Q. Okay. Does that show you or you refer to the old
version ofrthat of some cobblestone either in the street or on
the side of the building next to the mill?

A. It's tough to make out in this but it looks like

that's what they're trying to get across.
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Q. Okay. And then you can see -- well, first of all,
before we ever go to Flowers cﬁange to their new logo, dces --
Wwhen you see the Cobblestone Mill mark with this old mill with
that whatever it is that's vague that you say is hard to make
cut, what's the image that's evoked in your mind?

Al Loocks like they're trying to depict in an
old-fashioned mill where they used to grind wheat into flour.

Q. And is that, at least from your understanding,
consistent with the fact that they're a bakery?

A, Exactly. I would think that the wheat flour bread
connotation is what they're tryving te invoke.

0. In your mind when vou compared the image of an
old-~fashicned mill that grinds wbeat with IMA's image of an
old-fashioned deli market where you sell -- buy meats and
cheeses, was there any confusion in your mind?

A. Nene whatsoever. ©One is where product is ground up
and manufactured, and ancther a market is where you sell
product.

Q. Okay. Now if you'll notice on the left it's what
they said was the old of Anderson Exhibit 12 and then they have
now switched to what théy call -- what did they say? What
tomorrow brings, is that what it say?

A, Yes, that's what it says.

O. So the new image that Ms. Anderson testified to is

Lhe one that depicts the larger wheel on the right. Do you see
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that?
A. Yes, 1 do.
0. In the new style of the Cobblestone Mill mark, as

utilized by Flowers, did they do away with anything?

A. Tt looks like they completely did away with the
mill.

0. The stone building is the mill?

A. The stone building is not there.

0. Okay. But is the part of the mill there that's the
wheel?

A. Yeah, the only thing that remains locks like the
mill wheel, ves.
Q. Okay. So the old building's done away with but the

new or the old mill wheel is still therev?

Al Yes.

Q. And more prominently displayed?

A, Yes.

Q. Again, as Flowers has revised their mark to focus

on the mill wheel as opposed to the old cobblestone building,
does that create any confusion in your mind or a possibility
thét someone could be confused as to a source of the bakery
products that Flowers makes versus the deli hams, meats, and
cheeses that are sold by IMA and its stitch constituent members
under the Cobblestone Market brand?

AL I woulild think there would be no confusion at all
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one's a mill and one is a market,

Q. When did IMA and its‘member owners start actually
using the Cobblestone Market brand?

A. That would be a guesstimate on my part. Probably
somewheres around year 2004, 2005,

Q. Okay. What kind of investment did first IMA make
itself as the organization I guess that pursues the brands in
the brand Cobblestone Market?

A. Generally it's approximately 525,000 to create a
brand through Newhall Klein.

Q. Okay. BSo you've got the ad agency expense and
that's really not any marketing at that point. Is that just
creation of the brand?

A, That's just ideation and creation of the brand and
logo.

Q. And then you go through the label process and that
has additional expenses?

A. Right.

Q. And then does IMA also invest in any marketing
materials?

A. Each project generally has a point of sale piece
aftached to it that can cost anywhere between 15 thousand and
$30,000. T believe this project was around $25,000.

Q. Okay. So that's really not dissemination of

advertising material or marketing material. That's just the
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creation at the creative level. Right?
A, Correct.
Q. S0 all total what would vou estimate that IMA has

spent in just in developing the brand? T'm not talking about
marketing it, just developing the Cobblestone Markst brand?

A. Between 40 and 550,000 for the ideation and brand
creation and the initial point of sale runs.

Q. Okay. Then to use this material you have ftoc market

it, disseminate it, advertise it to certain people, right?

A. Correct.
Q. And how does that work?
A. That takes place at the local level where we —-

after the point of sale is developed we send each company a
CD-rom where they customize the point of sale for their
marketplace and they begin to incur additional expenses at the
local market level.

Q. What level of brand marketing support was targeted
by vour member owners for the Cocbblesione Market brand?

A. Approximately two percent goes into their local
marketing funds to promote this item locally.

Q. And what were the sales last year, or through this
year, the annual sales of the Cobblestone Market brand product?

A. Approximately 80 million dollars.

Q. You heard Ms. Anderson testify that they hoped to

de 76 million I think it was this year, maybe as much as 80
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million, something in that neighborhood?

A. I don't recollect the exact figure but that may be
correct.
O. S50 IMA's Cobblestone Market brand does at least as

much business, if not more, than the Cobblestone Mill bread
products that Ms. Anderson testified about?

A, If those numbers are correct, yes.

Q. S0 what do you believe to be the amount of money
that's bkeen spent by IMA and its member owners to promote the
brand Cobblestone Market on an annual basis?

A. Well, at the local level at two percent that would
be approximately 1.6 million between all our member owners
te -- and that would encompass foocd somchow allowances, flier
allowances, they have local magazines that target the food
Service operatoer that I referred to, the chef and the food
service managers, and they circulate those so all those
activities cost money but the two percent equals about 1.6
million.

0. And in spending all the 1.6 million, is that on an
annual kasis?

A. Correct.

Q. On all that advertising and all those sales, have
you found any time that a customer came to you, or anybody, and
said "Gee, are you the bread people?”

A. Never.
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Q. Would yvou be surprised if somebody came and said "I
thought maybe that bakery started making hams"?

A Yes.

Q. In your industry, or your experience in the
industrg, are bakeries usually fccused on baked and bread
products?

A. Yes.

Q. And has it been your experience that they expand
into something like making turkey or deli ham or salads-?

A. No.

Q. And by comparison, is IMA's Cobblestone Market
brand selling ‘any bread products under the Cobblestcne_Market
brand?

A. No. And to further elaborate, we actually have a

separate stand-alone brand c¢f bread so there's nc confusion.

Q. Okay. What is the brand that you sell for breads?
A. Brickfire Bakery.
Q. And again, your market image that you're trying to

evoke, is the process of baking the bread, Brickfire Bakery,

right?
A, Correct.
. Did you hear Ms. Anderscn talk about the fact thap
the -- that food —m.that Flowers has a food service division?
A Yes, Flowers Specialty I believe.
Q. - And you also heard her say that Flowers Specialty,
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their food division, cannot and will not sell the Cobblestone
Mill brand because that's a different distribution mechanism?
A. As I understood it, that would be an actual
violation of the contracts that Flowers Bakery has with their
distributors.
Q. Do you know if IMA and its member owners purchaged
any bfead products from the food service division which is

-

Flowers Specialties of Flowers?

A We have two members that purchase from Flowers
Specialties.
Q. And does Flowers Specialties have its own brands

that are not in any way asscciated with Cobklestone Mill?

A, It's my understanding they do.
Q. Do yeou know what those brands are?
A, I think Mrs, Smith's is one of them but that's the

only one I've heard reference to.

Q. S50 the Flowers Bakeries does in fact have brands
that they sell through food service but they are Mrs. Smith's
or brands other than the Cobblestone Mill brand?

A. The Flowers Specialties does, yes.

Q. In terms of the advertising budget that you spent,
I know you generallf described it a few moments ago, do you
also advertise in magazines?

A. The companies have a local publication that they

customize for their customer base. We do not do any other
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advertising in trade magazines, no.

Q. Do you know what trade magazines that the owner
members advertise the Cobblestone Market brand in?

A. Again, it's their local self~publication that they
write and customize.

Q. And who weculd the target audience of that
publication be?

A. Again, the chefs, food service managers, the people
that run institutional food service establishments.

Q. Have you ever seen or dé you anticipate that there
will ever be any advertising focused on the upscale female

retall consumer?

A, No.

Q.  Have you understocd my questions?

A. Yes.

Q. Is there anything you need to clarify that ycu have

testified to that's unclear that you think needs clarificaticon
at this time?
A. ~ No.
MR. HILL: With that I will pass the witness.
MR. DAVIS: lWhy don't we take a guick break.
MR, HILL: Okay.
{Brief recess from 10:48 a.m. to 11:08 a.m..)
EXAMINATION

QUESTICNS BY MR. DAVIS:
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Q. Mr. Fontana, as you know, my name is Ted Davis and
I represent Flowers in this proceeding. Mr. Hill covered
earlier the fact that you had given a discovery deposition in
this case and the parties have agreed to try and streamline the
proceedings to allow discovery depesitions to be used at the
trial in this matter, which is where we otherwise are. I'm
going to be referring to your discovery deposition testimony.
I don't -- 1in a couple of spots. I don't believe it will be
necessary for you to take a lock at it te respond, but if vyou
would feel more comfortable doing is so I have a copy of it
here as well as the exhibits.

MR. HILL: I'd like you to just that you're
clear as to the context.

Q. (By Mr. Davis) If I refer to specific pages in the
discovery deposition I'11 tell you what pages those are.
A, Okay.

MR. HILL: Ted, do you have a extra copy for me
or do you want me to go get his depo? T've got his depo in the
other room. You just tell me the pages and that way I can look
at it too.

MR. DAVIS: We have extra copies I believe.

MR, HILL: Of those excerpts?

MR. DAVIS: I think it's the whole thing.

MR. HILL: TLet me just go grab it.

(Mr. Hill leaves room and returns.)
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Q. (By Mr. Davis} Mr. Fontana, you previously have
testified about an exhibit that was labeled earlier as Fontana
No. 6. 1I'd like for you to take a look that and do you

recognize that document still?

A. Yes.

Q. And what is that document?

A. It looks like some pages out of some point of sale
material.

Q. And this is a document generated by IMA?

A. Correct.

Q. I'd like, if you ceculd, to ask you some questions

going through this page by page. Can you tell me what the two
items on the first page of this document are up at the top?

Not the advertising agency material at the bottom.

A. it's looks like point of sale for our ham.

0. And who developed those materials?

A. Newhall Klein,

Q. And you've described them as point of sale
materials. How do they wind up being used at point of sale?

A, Well, they're put in front of a customer or left

with a customer to describe the attributes of a product.
Q. And by custpmer here you mean?
A The restaurateur, the chef, the food service
manager at a hotel, at a restaurant, at a school.

. Ckay. Could you take a lock at the second page of

Compex Legal Services

Defendant IMA's Trial Testifhony 6f Robert Fontana

11

11

11

11

i1

11

11

11

11

11

il

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

11

il

11



O

TN

-

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

32

that document, please? The second page features what seem to
be similar material. Would your characterization of those two

be the same?

a. Yes, Just different products.

Q. Yes. The third page as well?

FiNR Yeah, the same, different products.

Q. The next page also?

A. The same, different products.

Q. And then proceeding on to the page following that,

which 1s numbered page five, I'd 1like to ask you some gquestions

about the items displayed on that page.

A, Ckay.
Q. Could you describe generally what these items are?
A. These are merchandising materials designed to

outfit kiosks that our products are merchandised through

typically in a ceollege, institutional food service setting.

Q. And when you use the word kiesk, what do you mean
by that?
A. Kiosk can be a stand-alone cart similar that you

see in many food courts or this can be used to dress up a
typical food service stainless steel counter at a college food
service line to give the students the feel that they're
actually purchasing from a food service deli environment.

Q. S50 these items would go into a pre-existing

leoccation of one of your customers?
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A, Generally, ves.

Q. And if we could go through these just very briefly,
if you could describe what they are and how they are used. I
apologize there are a few of them. I just want to make sure we
get them in the reco?d. I would suggest we start with A and go
from there?

A, Okay. A weculd be a poster that would go, you know,
as a backdrop against the wall of the food service line to
again help dress it up and make it lcok like a food service
deli.

Q. 30 your customer would take that product and
display it to the ultimate consumer?

A. Yes.

0. And to make sure I'm using consumer literally, the

individual actually consuming the item?

Al Yes.
0. What about item number B?
A. B is the counter -- loocks like a table -- it would

go on the counter again to give the feel that they are

purchasing a preduct from a food service deli.

Q. What about item C?

. C is a pickle jar again merchandising pickles.
0. and D?

A. Locks like a viéor to make the worker loock like

they're working at a food service deli.
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Q. And when vou say worker, that would be an employee

of one of your customers?

A. Correct.

Q. E?

A. Again, it's a hat to achieve the same purpose.

Q. And F?

. F is -- it looks like price tags to merchandise the

price of a product.

Q. And how would those bé displayed?

A. Typically in a delil case on a —-- to advertise the
price of whatever product they're trying to sell z dollar fof

the pickle.

0. Item G7

A. Looks like heclders to hold that price tag.

Q. H?

A It's a static cling that would go on the window of

the deli case and stick te it tc again merchandise the
Cobblestone Market brand.

Q.. So an end consumer looking at a particularlfood
item through that window might see that as they examine the
items that they might purchase?

&, It would actuaily be on the outside ¢f the window.

Q. But it would be the window through which they would
look to see the food item?

A. Yes.
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Q. Okay. Moving on to I7?

A. I is -- looks like the same tﬁing, smaller.

Q. J7?

A, It's an apron again to again give the consumer the

feel that they're buying from a deli.

0. Next is K2

A, Let's see. H, I, J, K.

0. These are a little bit cryptic.

A. Oh, no. They're ceiling danglers. You dangle them

from the rafters in the ceiling again to merchandise your
products and brands.
. And again, these would be displayed by your

customers?

A. Yes.
Q. L7
A. L, again it's a static cling design to ciing onto

the outside of a glass or stainless steel case.

Q. Moving on to M?

A. I'm trying to find it on here. I'm trying te find
the reference M. Looks like outdoer signage but therets

nothing displayed there.

Q. There does seem to be an empty box for that one.
Has the company ever produced outdoor signs?

Al Not to my knowledge. I do not know if that ever

came to fruition or not.
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Q. What about item N?

A, It looks like a menu board to menu your items.
Q. And again, that would be -- I see there's some

blank spaces in that menu board, and those spaces, would they
be filled in by your customers?
a. Yeah, they would customize whatever they want to

slide into that menu board.

Q. And then display it to the ultimate consumer?

A. Correct.

Q. O looks like to be the -- more or less the same
thing?

A, Same thing, vyes.

Q. P?

A, P, server buttons. They would go on the 1apél of

the apron.

0. What about Q2
A. Q0 is looks like deli wrap to wrap the product in.
Q. And so if an end consumer were to purchase a

product from one of your customers, it would be delivered in
that wrapper?

A. You know, 1 don't think so. I helieve we did éway
with sandwich wraps and they no longer exist in the line of

products.

Q. + Did they ever exist?
Al No, they didn't. It was proposed and we decided
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not to go forward with sandwich wrap so they are not in

existence.
Q. What about item R?
A. R, it lcoks like a table umbrella, again, to help

merchandise the brand.

Q. And so that would be used, say, on a patic by your
customers?

A. I would say again more in a college dining setting
to help give the feel that you're on a patio but in fact you
would be inside an institutional food service environment
trying to give the feel of that overall deli in what's
generally a very sterile food service envirenment. A lot of
colleges are trying to upscale their food service e the
students and that's how you dc¢ that utilizing that type of
imagery to accomplish that.

Q. Okay. Why don't wé see if we can streazmline this.
If you could just go through $, T, U, and V and finish this up .

A. Okay. S and T look like shirts again to dress up
the employees to get the brand image across and luncheon
napkins again to complement the experience along with sandwich
wrap stickers, which I believe along with the sandwich wrap
have -- did -- never did come inteo fruition.

Q. A customer —-- an end consumer walking intoc one of
your customer's establishments in which these items are

displayed would see these at the point of sale, would they not?
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A. Ceorrect. Right.

0. Do your customers have female end consumers as
shoppers?

A Yes.

Q. Do your customers typically make distinctions

between end consumers' relative wealth, for example?

b, In an institutional food service setting, no.
Q. So --
A. If you have three deollars to buy a sandwich they're

going to wait on you, whether yeou're a millicnaire or not.

0. Even if you're an upscale female consumer?

A. Even if you're an upscale female consumer, and
again environment for this typically is the institutional food
service setting of a college campus or a hospital which has

various clientele running through it at any given time.

Q. I would think especially the hospital?
A, Yes.
Q. You've referred in your testimony today teo the food

service channel distribution and you have just described
different institutions falling into that category. &re there
others that you wculd include?

A, Well, I think I pretty much covered it. I think
prisons may be one that T left out, but I think for the mcst
part I touched on the lafger segments ¢f the distribution

channel.
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Q. What abott supermarket delis?

A. Supermarket delis can be a potential customer for a
fecod service distributor.

Q. You said they can be. Do you know if they are or

are not?

A, They are.

Q. They are?

A. Yeah. A smaller segment but they are.

Q. You testified earlier, as you characterized 1it,
that your members are food service oriented. Do you mean by

that that that's all they do?

A. That is the majority of what they do.

Q. What would be the other activities not falling into
the majority of their activities?

Al Okay. To reference more and more the supermarket
deli has become more cof a food service entity than a retail
entity. The deliveries to those units are -- can be food
service driven and are -- have more of a food service look than

a retail look.

0. - Which of your members -- sorry, let me withdraw
that. Let me make sure I understecod your last testimony
correctly. The supermarket deli is becoming an increasingly

larger segment of the food service channel?
A. . The food -- the retail deli is acting and looking

more like a food service channel than a retail channel.
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Q. And if that is the case, would that mean'that vour
six members would have a greater share cof that supermarket deli
market, say, than they did ten years ago?

A. Yes. Potentiaily, yes.

0. You said potentially. Do vou think it is or is not
a larger setting?

a. I think it is a larger setting than it was ten
years ago.

Q. And your six members are servicing that?

AL I can't speak for certainty that all six service

that segment.

Q. But at least some of them do?
A I would think so.
0. Okay. Mr. Hill has marked as an exhibit or as four

exhibits in your earlier testimony some material from the file
wrapper history of your application. I'm not sure we
necessarily need to mark those as exhibits but I'll go ahead
and do the same thing.

MR. HILL: You've got some cother sections from
the file wrapper?

MR. DAVIS: I've got something that I don't
believe that you marked. It's —-

MR. HILL: Ch. For the record, I don't mind
you showing him a deocument that references the same scope of

testimony that we took on direct but since he's our witness,
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since I have a limited testimony, in fact no testimony from him
regarding the actual application process I.may object to but
let's go ahead and mark it as an exhibit, but I may cbject to
it as being outside the scope of thié ~- of the direct.

MR. DAVIS: I understand. I don't think it is
outside the scope of the direct.

MR. HILL: Do you want to mark this --

MR. DAVIS: I'm scerry, Marty, which one did I
hand you?

MR. HILL: You handed me something that's the
Motion to Amend the Application.

MR. DAVIS: That's it.

MR. HILL: Is that what you want me to mark?

MR. DAVIS: Yes.

THE COURT REPORTER: 15.

MR. HILL: 152

THE COURT REPORTER: Mh-mh.

(Fontana Exhibit Ne. 15 marked.)

0. {By Mr. Davis) Mr. Fontana, I'd like to show yvou a
document, as I mentioned. It is froem what we call the file
Wwrapper history of your application. It is -- you'll see it 1is

a document filed by your counsel to amend the application and
I'd 1ike for you to turn to the second page of that and vyou'll
see in the middle towards -- the upper middle part of that

document a revised identificaticn of goods for the application.
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A. Okay.

Q.. Is that identification of goods restricted in any
way to the food service channel distribution?

MR. HILL: Object to the extent it calls for a
legal conclusion but to the extent that he knows the answer he
can answer it.

MR. DAVIS: I believe it's a factual guestion.

a. I don't believe so.

0. (By Mr. Dbavis) Thank you.. Mr. Fontana, I'd like
to ask you a gquestion about.an exhibit about which you
testified earlier.

MR. BILL: That's fine.

Q. .(By Mr. Davis) This one is marked Anderson Exhibit
12. You testified about the packaging of the products shown on
this exhibit and I believe yéu testified that IMA's products
would not be shipped in similar packaging; is that correct?

A. I testified that typically a food service pack is a
much larger pack than six Philly style hoagie rolls, that this
is a typical retail pack and a food service pack would be much
larger. I believe T said 12 dozen or 144 rolls. I think
that's what T said. |

Q. Okavy. That's fine. In your experience in the
industry, do you believe that producers of goods that are
targeted for retail sale ship their products in that pack --

that type of packaging to the retail outlets?
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A, This what I'm looking at?
Q. Yes.
A. I believe this is how you ship it to the retail

outlets in bread trays.

Q. Do you believe there would be any additional
packaging that went along with what you see in Andetrson Exhibit
127

A. Not being familiar with the retail, per se, and
Flowers Distribution specifically I cculdn't answer that.

. Based on your experience in the industry and as a
consumer --

A, There is no outer packaging. There's no
corrugate -- I've seen it wheeled in on hand trucks with
plastic trays stacked up and the delivery person typically will
wheel that in and stock the shelves with packages similar to
this stacked in plastic trays. That's just my experience.

0. That's all I'm asking for. BAnd so in vyour
experience, you don't believe that bags like this are simply
tossed on a truck and then unloaded when they reach the retail
ocutlet?

A. No, I think they're put in trucks on plastic trays
and wheeled into the retail outlet.

Q. Okay. You testified earlier as tc the -- I'd like
to refer you back to Fontana Exhibit 6, which I bslieve vou

testified were some examples of point of sale marketing
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material?

A. Mh-mh.

Q. You also testified about the percentage of
advertising expenditures made by your loccal custo@ers?

A, Correct.

Q. How much -- what percentage of the advertising
budget for this project would be spent on items like this? I'm
referring to --

A. That would be -- again, the development of the
concept would be part of the 40 tec $50,000 I mentioned. Going
forward, the purchase of these materials by our member owners
would be an expense incurred by either them or the charge be
passed on to the food service operator, who would be purchasing
the kit. In some instances the member owner may opt to
purchase the product and give it to the customer or the
customer may be required to purchase it. It can happen both
Ways.

C. Okay. Mr. Fontana, you testified earlier as —-
about the search process that went along with the adoption of
the Cobblestone Market Trademark, did you not?

A. Yes.

o. I believe you testified about what has been marked
as Fontana Exhibit No. 87

AL Yes,

Q. But this is not a document with which you're
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familiar before --

A. No, T was not copied on this document and I -- I'm
not familiar with this to the best of my recollection.

Q. Are you familiar with any of the search process
that took place after that document was generated?

B. In a very general sense that I described.

Q. You've testified I believe that yvour market is
intended to create the impression of an old style market or --

A, Right.

Q. The depicticon of the trademark shown in Fontana No.
6 though features the word "Cobblestone" in a larger font size
than the word "market,"™ does it not?

A. It doésﬂ

0. Are you aware that during the application process
to register your trademark your company disclaimed rights to
the word "market"?

A, I'm not aware of that.

MR. HILL: Object tc the extent it calls for a
legal conclusicn. You're asking him about legal matters but to
the extent he knows he can answer it.

MR. DAVIS: I understand I'm asking him a
factual guestion.

0. {By Mr. Davis) Do you know whether the company
investigated the availability of the word "market" before

proceeding with this trademark?
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A, I do not know if they specifically researched the
word "market" as & stand-alone market.

MR. HILL: I'll give you two to one odds how
that would have ended.

Q. (By Mr. Davis)  Based on your experience in the
marketing industry, do you believe it's standard practice to
roll out a trademark, a brand like this, without conducting a
search?

A. Well, there was a search conducted on Cobblestone
Market. Your question specifically asked me if there was a

search done on the word "market.”

Q. Let me rephrase my earlier questioh then.

A. Thank you.

Q. Was there any search run for Cobblestone Market?
A. I believe there was.

Q. Do you know whether your company has produced that

search to us?

A, I believe they have.

Q. Are you certain that that is not the search for
Cobblestone Corner?

a. I'm -- I believe you've also seen that search but
I'm not certain of everything that's been given to you by our
counsel.

Q. Do you believe that there are two trademark

searches?
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A. I believe there were numerous trademark searches in
this process to develo? a deli brand for IMA.

Q. Let me show you a document that we have previously
marked as Planck Exhibit 6. I'll represent tc you that this
was a document produced by your counsel to us and that it
appears to be a search for Cobblestone Corner. Have you ever

seen a corresponding document for Cobblestone Market?

A. Not to my recollection, no.

Q. Okay. You tes#ified earlier about the Mrs. Smith's
brand. Your -- are you familiar with that brand?

A. I was told that it wcould -- that it is one of

Flowers Specialties food service brands.
Q. You were told by whom?
Aa. One of ocur member companies who distributes the

product it buys from Flowers 3Specialties.

0. And which one is that?
A. That weould be ocur Conco member.
Q. You've anticipated a ~- one of the gquestions that

I'1ll jump to now. We've had testimony in this case that the

parties do have a relaticnship of sorts on the business side?

A. Of scorts.
Q. What is your understanding of that relationship?
A. Not —-- I have a very vague understanding of the

relationship other than twoc of cur member companies distributes

product from Flowers Specialties through their distribution
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companies.

0.

AL

Q.

A.

0.
companies di

A
service pack

primary cust

And you've identified one of those already?

Yes.

And which is the other?

The IGA Company out of Knoxville, Tennessece.
WHat's your understanding of which products those
stribute of Flowers Specialties?.

Vaguely I was told they distribute bulk food

ed product thatris really going to prisons as a

omer and that's what I reccllect from my

conversation.

Q.

A.
Pldnck, a co
Company.

Q.
aware of the

A.

Q.
that brand?

AL

items.

that?

And again, by whom were you toid this?
By Tommy Lamb from our Concco member and thrcough Bob

nversation he had with a John Ccmbas from the IGA
Based on your employment by ~- with Sysco, are yocu
Block and Barrel brand?

Yes.

What's your understanding of the gocds sold under
That it is a bundled offering of deli-related

And by deli-related items, what do you mean by

The items that you would typically find in our
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Cobblestone Market brand cheeses, meats, pickles, etcetera.
Q. Any bread?
Al I am not sure if Block and Barrel has a bread

component to it or not.

Q. Are you familiar with the Sara Lee Company?

A. Somewhat.

Q. Are you aware that Sara Lee sells meét items?
Al Yes.

Q. Are you aware that Sara Lee alsoc has a line of

bread items?

AL Yes.

Q. I'll borrow a word that you used earlier. Would
you be surprised if a consumer thought that Sara Lee Bread and

Sara Lee Meat came from the same company?

Al No.

Q. Is that something you would expect?

A, What?

Q. That a customer encountering Sara Lee Bread and

Sara Lee Meat would assume 1t was the same company?
A. They —-- I would assume they would believe it's the

same company.

Q. Are you familiar with the Boar's Head brand?
A Yes.
Q. What is your understanding of the -- what is so0ld

underneath that brand?
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a. I believe it's a line of deli meats.

Q. Anything else?

A. I'm not certain.

Q. Do you know their channels -- anything about their

channels of distribution?

A, Very littie. They're a very -- I really don't
understand much about Boar's Head and their products or their
distribution channels.

Q. I believe you testified earlier that you were
unaware of any instances of actual confusion between the
trademarks at issue in this proceeding; is that correct?

A. Right.

Q. What mechanisms does IMA have in place to collect
that sort of information?

A, Well, we really don't have any mechanism to do
those types of studies.

Q. And to the best of your knowledge, the company has
not conducted a scientific survey of consumers' reactions to

the two trademarks?

A, No.
MR. DAVIS: Why don't we go off the record.
{Discussion off the record.)
(Brief recess from 11:41 a.m. to 12:02 p.m..}
Q. {By Mr. Davis) We just have a few more questions.

I'd like to show yvou a document, again it's from the file
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wrapper history of your trademark application. I don't believe
it's been marked as an exhibit yet.
MR. HILL: I think this one is not so we'"ll --
(Fontana Exhibit No. 16 marked.)

Q. (By Mr. Davis) Mr. Fontana, have you ever seen
this decument before?

A, I don't believe sc.

Q. If you could turn to Page 42, as that document is
numbered on the lower right-hand corner, and take a lcok at the
last full paragraph and, in particular, the fourth sentence of
that paragraph.

A. ‘Okay. Okavy.

Q. There is a reference in that sentence teo, I'm going
to guote here, "credible probative evidence of widespread
significant unrestrained use by third parties."

A. I see that.

Q. Are you aware of any evidence that IMA has
collected falling within that category?

A. Concerning Cobblestone Market?

Q. More specifically, any third ﬁarty use that the
company believes is rélevant to this proceeding?

MR. HILL: T object as I'm confused but if you
know what he's talking about --

A. I don't. I need clarificaticen on the question.

Q. {By Mr. Davis) I'1l try and clarify it. Are you
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aware of other parties actually using the phrase Cobblestcne?
MR. HILL: Parties? People in any period?
o. {By Mr. Davis} Are you aware of any people who are
currently using the word Cobblestone as part of a trademark or

a service mark?

A, Yes, Flowers Bakeries.

0. Any other than Flowers?

A. Not -- no, no entity that I could name.

Q. Just to clarify, my original gquestion was about
people. Are you aware of any company that uses the word

Cobhlestone as part of a trademark or service mark?

A. Flowers Bakery.

Q. Any other company cther than Flowers Bakery?

A, IMA .

Q. Any other company other than Flowers or IMA?

A. No.

Q. Thank you. I'd like to jump back to Planck Exhibit

1> or, excuse me, Fontana Exhibit 15.

MR. HILL: OCkay.

Q. (By Mr. Davis} And address again the amended
identification of goods covered by this application. TI'd like
to ask you to -- have you review that descripticon and then once

vou're done ask you a few questions about it.
A, Okay. Go ahead.

0. Is IMA currently or IMA's members are they
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providing deli meats in connection with the Cobblestone Market

trademark?

A. Yes.

G. Hew is the trademark used in coﬁnection with delil
meats?

Al I'm not sure I understand the question.

0. I asked whether you were aware if anybody -- either

TMA or its member companies i1s using Ccbblestone Market in

connection with deli meats?

A. Yes, they are.
Q. How are they using it?
A. They are using it as portrayed in Exhibit 6 cn

various deli meat items such as ham and turkey and cther meat
items.
0. Is the mark affixed to any packaging in which deli

meat is shipped?

Al Yes.

Q. What type of packaging is it?

A. Generally it's a plastic cryovac packaging.

0. And the trademark is embossed onto that or affixed.

to it somehow?

A. It's embossed right into the packaging, the plastic
cryovac packaging, or it can be a sticker or a label.

Q. Are those packages that you just described enclosed

in, say, cardboard boxes as they're shipped?

Compex Legal Services

Defendant IMA's Trial 11-7933@%&9%% Robert Fontana

12

12

12

1z

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

iz

iz

i2

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

1z

1z



()

P

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22
23

24

25

54

A Yes, they are.

Q. What is on the outside of those boxes?

A. Cobklestone Market emblem, logo.

Q. Similar to as it's portrayed in Fontana Exhibit 62
A. Right.

Q. Moving on tc the next item, which appears to be

cooked deli items, namely soups, is the company or its member

companies currently using the Cobblestone Market mark with

soups?
A. Yes.
Q. How i§ it using the mark with soups?
A. In one instance on corrugate only and on both

instances just on the outer corrugate.
Q. And just to clarify things for me and the

layperson, by corrugate you mean cardboard?

A, Cardboard.

Q. How would the soups be shipped inside the cardbocard
box?

A. One is -~ one method of packaging is plastic tubs

and another are plastic bags.
Q. Moving to the next item, cheese, is the company

currently using the Cobblestone Market in association with

cheese?
A. Yes.
Q. How is that use being made?
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A, Similar to the meat items where the internal
packaging will be a wrapped plastic cryovac bag with either it
embossed embedded brand or a sticker and it is shipped in
printed corrugate, slash, cardboard boxes.

0. What about the next item, refrigerated salads?

A. They would be packaged with a printed internal
carton encased in a Cobblestone corrugate cardboard box.

Q. When yocu say Cobblestone cardbcard corrugate box,

do you mean a box with Cobblestone Market on the outside?

A. Yes.
Q. What about the next item, pickles?
A. Pickles would either come in a bulk bucket with a

Cobblestone sticker con 1t or in gallon jars with a Cobblestone
sticker on it.

Q. What about bagged potato chips?

A. They are preprinted Cobblestone internal bags in a

Cobblestone printed corrugate cardboard case.

Q. What about frozen soups?
A, We did that already.
Q. We did cooked soups. If the answer's the same

that's fine.

A. The answer is the same.
Q. Frozen entries?
A. They would be packaged in a metal tray with a

Cobblestone sticker on the tray with a Cobblestone corrugate on
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the -- for the outer shipper.

Q. For each of the products -- just to clarify, for
each of the products that remain in that idengification, these
uses actually are cccurring of the Cobblestone Market mark?

A, Yes, they are.

Q. Are you aware that Pepridge Farm sells frozen

entries?

. No, I'm not.

Q. But you're aware Pepridge Farm sells bread?

A. Yes.

Q. You testified earlier about 1.6 million dollars in
advertising. Is that an accurate number?

A. That is an estimate.

Q. Okay. And that was an estimate of advertising for
what?

A. For the local marketing spent by ocur member
companies.

Q. And would that be spent on Cobblestcne Market goods
specifically?

AL Yes.

0. And just teo clarify, what would be the overall

budget for advertising for this trademark again?
A. We take the 1.6 million and add it to the 40 or
50,000 doliar total figure that I gave you to come up with the

total.
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o. And that total figure would be for Cobblestone
Market specifically?
A, Correct.
0. Okay.
MR. DAVIS: Your witness, Marty.
MR. HILL: Decne. Nothing. Off the record.
(Lunch recess from 12:%13 p.m. to 1:43 p.m..)
MR. HILL: I think we concluded Mr. Fontana's
depositicn, trial deposition before lunch but as sort of a
agreement and stipulaticn we're clear on the documents, it's my
understanding that the Fontana Exhibit 6, which is produced
here, is a clear color copy and that there's a desire that that
be attached to Mr. Fontana's cu;rent depositicn, even thodgh
that should be a color copy of the Exhibit 6 that was of Volume
1 of Mr. Fontana's prior deposition; is that right, Ted?
MR. DAVIS: That's correct.

MR. HITLL: Okay.
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ORAL DEPOSITION TRIAL TESTIMONY OF ROBERT FONTANA
CORRECTION PAGE
VOLUME 2
Plecase indicate changes on this Signature and Correction
Page giving the page and line number, the change, and the
reascon for the change. Reasons for change are: (1) to clarify
the record; (2) po conform to the facts; (3} to correct

transcription errors.

PAGE/LINE CORRECTION REASON
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WITNESS SIGNATURE PAGE

I, Robert Fontana, have read the foregoing deposition and
hereby affix my signature that same is true and correct, except

il

as noted on the above Correction, Page.

ROBERT FONTANA
THE STATE OF TEXAS }

COUNTY OE‘

Before me QW on this day personally

appeared r known to me (cr proved to me
under oath or through } (description of identity card
or other document} to be the person whose name is subscribed to
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that they
executed the same for the purposes and consideration therein

expressed.

GIVEN UNDER my hand and seal of office this% day of

%Wﬁu_ , 2007.

Notary Public in and for

The State of Texas

My Commission Expires:/ﬁ:zg!i/plzé //

Ak,
‘h’! .Pg'*f,

CHERYL J. MARTIN
Notary Public, State of Texas
PN My Commission Expires
SRS Oclober 28, 2011
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THE STATE OF TEXAS

I, Susan L. Graham, Certified Shorthand Reporter in
and for the State of Texas, hereby certify that at the time and
place stated the witness, Robert Fentana, personally appeared
before me and after being by me first duly sworn to tell the
truth, was examined by counsel for the respective parties
hereto; that the testimony of said witness was taken in
shorthand by me, later reduced to typewriting under my
direction, and the foregoing pageé are a true and correct
transcript of said testimony; that the transcript was submitted
to the witness to read and sign.

GIVEN under my hand and seal of office on this thé

15th day of October, 2007.

o T S

Susan L. Graham

Texas CSR No. 2534

Firm Registration No. 60
Expires: December 31, 2007

2040 North Toop West, Suite 200
Houston, Texas 77018

(713) 861-3900
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"Sandy Kiein, Newhall Kiein" <sandy@newhallkleln.com> 04/14/2004 03:36 AM
To

<Rob_Ahrensdorf@shamrackfoods.com>

"Bob Planck {E-mall)* <rdplanck@Iindependentmarketingalllance.com>
Subject

Re: Oakwood - digging deeper

Rob, :

Our process that IMA approved Is for us to do a very surface search for ail
the names we submit. (sometimes we are searching hundreds of names
before we submit them to IMA) Our search includes live, singular, plural
versions of each name. We use TESS and NameProtect.com.

Our search for Oakwood Deli and theh Oakwood Market show no direct
hits for the name in its entirety which is how we would use It.

Our process also requests that IMA (or any client) pick a top three just in
case the more detalled search doesn't allow us to move further on a
specific name, giving us fall back options.

Breaking each name down {if it has more than one name to it) takes
additional time, that we understood was Bob's preference to turn over to
his attorney once the top three were picked. I did take the time this
morning (of course at no additional charge) to break all top three names
down: ' -
Oakwood ~ 62 hits

-1 - Oakwood (foods) out of NY
Market -~ 2000+ :
Oakwood Market - 0 hits

Cobblestone ~ 68 hits

- 1 - Cobblestone Kitchens (foods) out of Canada

- 1 - Cobblestone Miil (bakery) out of Georgia
Corners -503
Cobblestone Corners - 1 hit ~ Housewares and Glass

:'Exmelzrtue.'___’jg

S. GRAHAM
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O

Counter - 991 hits
Classlics -~ 1987 hits
Counter Classics - 4 hits - all cancelled or abondoned

Looking more carefully at the Oakwood document, it appears that this
was founded in 1940. The last date of renewal was 1987, back when
renewals were good for 20 years (today it's 10). '

The company that currently has a trademark for Oakwood is out of
Yonkers, NY. I can't find a listing of them in my Food and Beverage
Marketplace gulde under the company name (which is the same as the
owner’s name) or the brand name. Further search in our meat and
poultry gulde for establishment numbers (as a manufacturer) turns up
nothing either.

I even called directory assistance in Yonkers 2and Stamford and came up
with no listing under Qakwood or the owner's company name. A web
search of company listings in NY turned up nothing.

It appears this company Is very small. I checked with NK's trademark
attorney and he agrees with the following recommendation: _
Further research into the company to find evidence that they still exist.
If they do not, we can easily file a petition to cancel the registration.

- If they are In buslness, and, depending on their specific business (store,

manuf., etc.} our filing of Oakwood Market with a broader scope than

- meats may not be an obstacle.

Wili advise on our findings.
Best regards,
Sandy

Sandy Klein

Newhall Klein, Inc.
6109 West KL Ave
Kalamazoo, MI 49009
269,544.0844
269.544,0848 fax

- sandy@newhallklein.com

http://www. newhallkleln.com
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From: Rob_Ahrensdorf@shamrockfoods.com
Date: Tue, 13 Apr 2004 16:49:33 -0700
To: sandy@newhallklein.com

Subject: Fw: Oakwood

Sandy,

All the trouble/time of what NHK and I went through and now we can't use Oakwood
Market...

Any ldea how we could have missed the direct trademark hit on meats for Oakwood in our
initial search? .

Rob Ahransdorf

Director Corporate Marketing
Shamrock Foods Corp.

5080 N. 40th Street, Suite 400
Phoenix AZ. 85018

ph: 602-477-2515

fx: 602-477-2535

~--== Forwarded by Rob Ahreﬁsdorf/EMKTlShammckPhfoS on 04/13/2004 04:46 PM ~aaev

“Bob Planck" <rdplanck@Independentmarketingalliance.com> 04/13/2004 04:38 PM
Please respond to
<rdplanck@independentmarketingalliance.com>

“To

“8rent Cady \(E-mall\)*" <bcady@ljcompany.com>, “Cecella E. Enault LDN, Rd \(E-mall\)™
<cenault@concofoods.com>, "Chadwick, Win \(E-mall\}*" <Wchadwick@aol.com>, Ed Sanford \(E-maill\)™
<ecsanfer@reinhartfoodservice.com:, “Fontana, Bob \(E-mall\)™ <bfontana@independentmarketingatiiance.com>,
"'Ocana, Ann \(E-mali\}"* <annocana@comeast.net>, "Phil Morgan \(E-mafl\)™ <phil.morgan@malnes.net>, *Planck,
Robert \(E-mall\)*™ <rdplanck@independentmarketingalfiance.com>, "Reb Ahrensdotf )
<rob_ahrensdorf@shamrockfosds.com>, "Rab Goluba® <Roh_Goluba@shameockfoods.coms, “'Stephen Krefft

\(E-mail\)™ <skreft@CONCOFOQDS.coms )

cc :

"Bob Fontana® <bfontana@Independentmarketingaillance.com>, "Jim Nesbitt \{m Nesbite\)”
<jnesbitt@independentmarketingaliiance.com>, "Mike Gentry (Mike Gentry - Office\)”

- <mgentry@independentmarketingalllance.coms

Subject
FW: Oakwood

Sorry to be the bearer of bad news but it looks like "Oakwood....” Will not work for us as a deli Brand as
it is active for fresh and prepared meats {documents attached). Sounds ke it is back to the drawing

boards.

Robert D. Planck

IMAL DOC 1 Electronic File Docs & Emails 121

Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



. T

MEMORANDUM

To:  Bob Planck
From: Barit Thompson

- Date: April 21, 2004

Re: Cobblestone Comer

IMA is considering adopting the use of the trademark “Cabblestone Corner” for deli
items such as cooked deli items, cheese, refrigerated sajads, refrigerated plckles, deli
mustard, bagged potato chips and frozen soups and entrees. These items come under
two of the classes for trademark registrations as follows:

Class 29 ~ Meats and Processed Foods
Cooked deli items
Cheese
Refrigerated salads.
Refrigerated pickles

Bagged potato chips
Frozen soups and enfrees

Class 30 - Staple foods
Deli mustard

The Mark “Cobble Stona” or “Cobblestone”

- . Asearch for the mark “cobble stons” reveals that there are a few uses of the mark, in

each case combined with ancther word, for products unc_ier Class 30:

Mark : Status Clagss . . Description
Cabblestone Bread Pending 30 ‘Fresh baguette breads
Cobblestone Mill Registered 30 Bakery products, namely
: . : . bread, bl._ms and rolls
Cobblestone Mill , _ ‘ '

- Healthy & Hearty Registered 30 Bakery products, namely

Bread

Cobblestone Kitchens Registered 30 Staple Goods, namely Hot:

Chocolate and Coffae

There are a couple of uses of the mark, in each case combined with another word, for
products under Class 29; - '

Bostfon Cobblestone Registered " 29 Cheese — -
Cobblestone Kitchens ~ Registered 29 Dairy-Based Food Beverages EXHIBITNG.S 7 1

S. GRAHAM
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The search also revealed that *cobble étone” is in use for several other products or
services outside of Classes 29 and 30. Some examples of these:

Cobblestons Pizza Pending 42 Restaurant services

Cobblestone Creek Pending 3 Cosmetic and cleaning (soaps)
Cobblestone Bridge Registered 16 Paper goods and Printed Matter

“ . : * 35 Advertising and Business

“ = " 28 Toys and Sporting goods

(plus several other registrations for Cobblestone Bridge) ‘ .
Caobblestone Smaill Group Tours '
: Registered 39 Transportation and Storage

Cobblestones Registered 25 - Clothing .
Cobblestone Registered - 33 Wines and Spirits
Cobblestones Registered 19 Non-metallic Bullding Materials
Cobblestone - Registered 42 Golf course services

The use of the mark Cobblestone has established several meanings through the
registrations and pending registrations listed above. -

The Mark “Cobblestone Corner” o ,
The mark “Cobblestone Comers™ was praviously registered in 1975 under class 42 and
cancelled In April 1982 (registrant was a third party). :

The mark “Cobblestone Comer” was subsequently registered In October 1984 by
Flowers industries, Inc., which may be the owner of the mark “Cobbiestone Mill* and
“Cobblestone Mill Healthy & Hearly” under class 30 for bakery products-namely, breads,
buns and rolls. The “Cobblestone Comer” mark was cancelled in February 1991.
Finally, in Aprit 2000 the Four Star International Trading Company registered the mark
“Cobblestone Comers” under class 21 for collectible figures made of porcslain. This
mark is live. _ :

Analysis |

- As we have praviously noted, the trademark rules emphasize the impression that is left

with the viewer. When a mark Is comprised of a word or words the dominant sounds
that the viewer observes is the feature of the mark fo be analyzed for purposes of
determining likelihood of confusion,

When a word has been used in multiple classes i is said to be diluted since no single
owner has sole ownership of the mark. With “cobble stone” or “cobblestone” the word
has some dilution since there are several different owners of variations of marks -
containing the word cobblestone,

With the variations of cobblestone and the fact that the existing "cobblestone comers” is
for a different product in a different class IMA should expect the trademark office to

. ralse the existence of the "comer” mark In their investigation. IMA will have to be
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prepaied to respond that the goods are in different chénne!s, and Involve different
buyers that are not only not Identical, but are not even related.

Assuming publication for opposition, the owner of the “Cobblestone Mill" mark for
bakery products, and possibly the owner of “Cobblestone Bread" mark for fresh
baguette breads could try to oppose registration - note that the owner of *Cobblestone
Mill" mark is Flowers Bakeries Brands, Inc. The owner of the “Baslon Cobblestone”
mark might try to oppose registration as well. We are curious as to why the trademark
office did not require a disclaimer of the use of “Cobblestone” without the use of the
other words in connection with these registrations. Should an opposition be filed, IMA
would show tha dissimilarities of the marks and the lack of confusion. We do not think

IMA would be accused of trading upon the goodwill of any of these marks.

BAPDH FleaVicHwiMASITracomadn\Cobbisstone ComurMEMO. 20040421 Cobblextons doa ]
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LTAUCINATK/ DETVICE IVIATK ADPLICATON, PTINCIPal Kegrster . Page lofd

-

N | o ,ocumel-lt Description: Application:  Mail / Create Date: 09-Jun-2004
- You are currently onpage |t of[3 |
. PTO Form 1478 {Rev 6/2006)
OMB No. 0851-0000 {Exp wuxxhooix)
Trademark/Service Mark Application, Principal Register
Serial Number: 78432642
Filing Date: 06/09/2004
The table below présents the data as entered.
Input Field . Entered
MARK SECTION _
MARK ‘ - | COBBLESTONE MARKET
STANDARD CHARACTERS YES
USPTO-GENERATED IMAGE YES
e LITERAL ELEMENT COBBLESTONE MARKET
L | The mark consists of standard characters,
MARK STATEMENT without claim to any particular font, style,
size, or color.
OWNER SECTION
NAME Independent Marketing Alliance LP
STREET 16000 Memorial Drive, Suite 200
CITY Houston
| STATE X
ZIP/POSTAL CODE 77079
COUNTRY : USA
PHONE - _ - ]281-531-0007
FAX | 281-531-0022
AUTHORIZED EMAIL COMMUNICATION No
LEGAL ENTITY SECTION FOrdAe
TYPE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP  JExHiei no. /€.
; S, GRAHAM -
N

http://portal.uspto.gov/externah’PA_l_0_V9/OpenServletWindow?serialNumbeFT843264;.. 9/20/2607
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T radéméfQSewibé-Mark Apphcat:ton, Prmc1pal .Registrer

+

() STATE/COUNTRY UNDER WHICH Delaware
NAME(S) OF GENERAL PARTNER(S) & Distribution Marketing Services LLC, a .
CITIZENSHIP/INCORPORATION Delaware limited liability comparny
GOODS AND/OR SERVICES SECTION
INTERNATIONAL CLASS 029

Deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese,
DESCRIPTION refrigerated salads, pickles, bagged potato
| chips, frozen soups and entrees

FILING BASIS Section I(b)
GOODS AND/OR SERVICES SECTION
INTERNATIONAL CLASS 030
DESCRIPTION Deli mustard
FILING BASIS Section 1(b)
SIGNATURE SECTION '
SIGNATORY FILE 28RO AT

e SIGNATORY NAME Robert D. Planck

SIGNATORY POSITION ggﬁ‘i:;‘tff g iéﬂ’;gi’gﬁﬁeﬁng
PAYMENT SECTION
NUMBER OF CLASSES 2
| NUMBER OF CLASSES PAID 2

SUBTOTAL AMOUNT 670
TOTAL AMOUNT 670
ATTORNEY
NAME Bartt G. Thompson
FIRM NAME Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C.
STREET 1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor
CITY Houston
STATE TX
ZIP/POSTAL CODE 77002

hup://portal.uspto.gov/extemalfPA_l__0__V9/OpenServietWindcw?serialenbeFR43264... 9/20/2007
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L LAUCILL &7 9T VIVE VIR APPUGALION, TINCIDEL Kegisier

3

bage3ats

TEAS STAMP

COUNTRY USA

PHONE 713-951-0160

FAX 713-951-0662

AUTHORIZED EMAIL COMMUNICATION No

OTHER APPOINTED ATTORNEY(S) Martyn B. Hill

CORRESPONDENCE SECTION

NAME | Bartt G. Thompson

FIRM NAME Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C.

STREET 1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor

CITY Houston

STATE X

| ZIP/POSTAL CODE 77002

COUNTRY USA

PHONE 713-951-0160

FAX 713-951-0662

AUTHORIZED EMAIL COMMUNICATION No

FILING INFORMATION _

SUBMIT DATE Wed Jun 09 18:04:27 EDT 2004
USPTO/BAS-64217113118-200
40609180427897573-7843264
2-200f0645184cd6ac39¢clele

Seal36fcedf0-CC-505-20040
609180035405078

http://portal.uspto.gov/extemal/PAm1_0__V9/0penServletWindow?serialNumber=7843264... 9/20/2007
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()

The mark consists of standard characters, without claim to any particular font, style, size, or color,

' §potato chips, frozen soups and entrees

| RIGUSHIALK/ SUTVICE IVIATK APPLICATION, FINCIpal Kegister ' Page 4 of 5

PTO Form 1476 (Rev 6/2005)
OMB No. 0651-0009 {Exp xdiothon:)

Trademark/Service Mark Application, Principal Register

Serial Number: 78432642
Filing Date: 06/09/2004

To the Commissioner for Trademarks:

'MARK: (Standard Characters, see mark)

The literal element of the mark consists of COBBLESTONE MARKET.

The applicant, Independent Marketing Alliance LP, a limited partnership organized under the laws of
Delaware, comprising of Distribution Marketing Services LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
residing at 16000 Memorial Drive, Suite 200, Houston, TX, USA, 77079, requests registration of the
trademark/service mark identified above in the United States Patent and Trademark Office on the
Principal Register established by the Act of July 5, 1946 (15 U.S.C. Section 1051 et seq.), as amended.

Intent to Use: The applicant has a bona fide intention to use or use through the applicant's related
company or licensee the mark in commerce on or in connection with the identified goads andfor
services. (15 U.S.C. Section 1051(b)). :

International Class 029: Deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, refrigerated salads, pickles, bagged
International Class 030: Deli mustard

The applicant hereby appoints Bartt G. Thompson and Martyn B. Hill of Pagel, Davis & Hill, p.C.,
1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor, Houston, TX, USA, 77002 to submit this application on behalf of the
applicant, '

A fee payment in the amount of $670 will be submitted with the application, representing payment for
2 class(es). ,

Declaration

The undersigned, being hereby warned that willful false statements and the like so made are
punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both, under 18 U.S.C. Section 1001, and that such willfut false
statements, and the like, may jeopardize the validity of the application or any resulting registration,
declares that he/she is properly authorized to execute this application on behalf of the applicant; he/she
believes the applicant to be the owner of the trademark/service mark sought to be registered, or, if the
application is being filed under 15 U.8.C. Section 105 1(b), he/she believes applicant to be entitled to
use such mark in commerce; to the best of his/her knowledge and belief no other person, firm,

corporation, or association has the right to use the mark in commerce, either in the identical form

thereof or in such near resemblance thereto as to be likely, when used on or in connection with the

http://portal.uspto.gov/extemaUPA_1_0_V9/0penScrvletWindow?serialenber=7843264... 9/20/2007
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Signatory's Signature: Signature

A TAOEMATK/SEIVICE IVIaTK Applicalion, Frincipal Kegister Page 5of 5

-

goods/services of such other person, to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive; and that all
statements made of his/her own knowledge are true; and that all statements made on information and
belief are believed to be true.

Signature:
Signatory's Name: Robert D. Planck ‘
Signatory's Position: President of Distribution Marketing Services LLC, General Partner

Mailing Address:
Bartt G. Thompson
1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor
Houston, TX 77002

RAM Sale Number: 505
RAM Accounting Date: 06/10/2004

Serial Number: 78432642 _

Internet Transmission Date: Wed Jun 09 18:04:27 EDT 2004
'TEAS Stamp: USPTO/BAS-64217113118-200406091804278975
73-78432642-200f0645184cd6ac39¢c1e3e5eal 3
6fcedfD-CC-505-200406091 80035405078

TDR Home

This document may be displayed as a PDF file containing images without text. You may view online or
save the entire document by clicking on the file download icon in the upper right corner of this page.
{tequired PDF viewer] :

FAQ: Are you seeing only the first page of this PDF document?

'If you need help:

» General trademark information: Please e-mail TrademarkdssistanceCenter@uspio.eov, or
telephone either 571-272-9250 or 1-800-786-9199.

o -Technical help: For instructions on how (o use TDR, or help in resolving technical glitches,
please e-mail TDR@uspto.goy. If outside of the normal business hours of the USPTO, please e-
mail Electronic Business Support, or call 1-800-786-9199.

» Questions about USPTO programs: Please e-mail USPTQ Contact Center (UCC).

- NOTE: Within any e-mail, please include your telephone number so we can talk to you directly, if

necessary. Also, include the relevant serial number or registration number, if existing.

http://portal.uspto.gov/external/PA_ﬁ1_O_V9/0penServletWindow?seﬁalenber=7843264... 9/20/2007
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UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

SERIAL NO: 78/432642

| JAN 10 2005
APPLICANT: Independent Marketing Alliance LP ,Hmﬂml Wmllmmmlmmmmﬂ
CORRESPFONDENT ADDRESS: : RETURN ADDRESS:
- Barit G. Thompson Commissioner for Trademarks
Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C. £.0. Box 1451

MARK:

.. ia, VA 13-1451
1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor Aloxandria, VA 223 5

Houston, TX 77002

COBBLESTONE MARKET

CORRESPONDENT’S REFERENCE/DOCKET NO: N/A " Please provide in ll comespondence:

1. Filing date, serial number, mark and

CORRESPONDENT EMAIL ADDRESS: applicant’s name,

2. Date of this Office Action.

3. Examining Attorney's name and
Law Office number.

4. Your telephone number and e-mail
"address.

OFFICE ACTION

TO AVOID ABANDONMENT, WE MUST RECEIVE A PROPER RESPONSE TO THIS
OFFICE ACTION WITHIN 6 MONTHS OF OUR MAILING OR E-MAILING DATE.

1

RE: Serial Number 78/432642

The assigned trademark examining attorney has reviewed the referenced application and has
determined the following. :

Likelihood of ( Confusion — Section 2(d)

Registration of the proposed mark is refused because of a likelihood of confusion with the marks in
U.S. Registration Nos. 1037938, 1920539, and 2741252. Trademark Act Section 2(d), 15 US.C.
§1052(d); TMEP §§1207.01 et seq. See the enclosed régistrations.

A likelihood of confusion determination requires a two-part analysis. First the marks are compared
for similarities in appearance, sound, connotation and commercial impression. In re E. I. DuPont
de Nemours & Co., 476 F.2d 1357, 177 USPQ 563 (C.C.P.A. 1973). Second, the goods or services
are compared to defermine whether they are similar or related or whether the activities surrounding
their marketing are such that confusion as to origin is likely. In re August Storck KG, 218 USPQ
823 (TTAB 1983); In re Int'l Tel. and Tel. Corp., 197 USPQ 910 (TTAB 1978); Guardian Prods.
Co., v. Scott Paper Co., 200 USPQ 738 (TTAB 1978); TMEP §§1207.01 et seq. -

okt
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Here, applicant has applied to register the mark COBBLESTONE MARKET.
The mark in U.S. Registration No. 1037938 is BOSTON COBBLESTONE.
The mark in U.S. Registration No. 1920539 is COBBLESTONE KITCHENS.

The mark in U.S. Registration No. 2741252 is COBBLESTONES RESTAURANT & BAR

Comparison of the Marks

The applicant’s mark is highly similar to the registrants’ marks and will léad to consumer
confusion. Specifically, the marks are similar in that COBBLESTONE(S) is the dominant portion
of each mark. The marks are compared in their entireties under a Section 2(d) analysis.
Nevertheless, one feature of a mark may be recognized as more significant in creating a
commercial impression. Greater weight is given to that dominant feature in determining whether
there is a likelihood of confusion. In re National Data Corp., 753 F.2d 1056, 224 USPQ 749 (Fed.
Cir. 1985); Tektronix, Inc. v. Daktronics, Inc., 534 F.2d 915, 189 USPQ 693 (C.C.P.A. 1976). In re
JM. Originals Inc., 6 USPQ2d 1393 (TTAB 1987); TMEP §1207.01(b)(viii). The dominant
portions are virtually identical in sound appearance and meaning, except for Registration No.
2741252, which simply uses COBBLESTONE in the plural.

Accordingly, since the marks are so similar in sound, appearance and overall commercial
impression, confusion as to source is likely. :

Comparison of the Goods and Services

Here, the applicant’s goods are highly related to the goods and services of the registrants, The
applicant’s goods are deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, refrigerated salads, pickles, bagged
potato chips, frozen soups and entrees; deli mustard.

The goods in U.S. Registration No. 1037938 are cheese. In this case, applicant also has cheese,
Thus it appears that registrant and applicant have identical goods.

The goods in U.S. Registration No. 1920539 are staple goods, namely, hot chocolate and coffee;
dairy-based food beverages. The services in U.S. Registration No. 2741252 are restaurant services;
catering services; take-out services; providing banquet and social function facilities, Many entities
provide both the type of goods or services provided by each registrant as well as the type of goods
provided by applicant. In this regard, attached are copies of printouts from the USPTO X-Search
database, which show third-party registrations of marks used in connection with the same or
similar goods and/or services as those of applicant and the regisirants in this case, These printouts
have probative value to the extent that they serve to suggest that the goods and/or services listed
therein are of a kind that may emanate from a single source. Jn re Infinity Broadcasting Corp. of
Dallas, 60 USPQ2d 1214, 1218 (TTAB 2001), citing In re Albert Trostel & Sons Co., 29 USPQ2d
1783, 1785-86 (TTAB 1993); and In re Mucky Duck Mustard Co., Inc., 6 USPQ2d 1467, 1470 at
n.6 (TTAB 1988).
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Please also note that the goods and/or services of the parties need not be identical or directly
competitive to find a likelihood of confusion. Instead, they need only be related in some manner,
or the conditions surrounding their marketing be such that they could be encountered by the same
purchasers under circumstances that could give rise to the mistaken belief that the goods and/or
services come from a common source. Jr re Martin’s Famous Pastry Shoppe, Inc., 748 F.2d 1565,
223 USPQ 1289 (Fed. Cir. 1984); In re Melville Corp., 18 USPQ2d 1386, 1388 (TTAB 1991); In
re Corning Glass Works, 229 USPQ 65 (TTAB 1985); In re Rexel Inc., 223 USPQ 830 (TTAB
1984); Guardian Prods. Co., Inc. v. Scott Paper Co., 200 USPQ 738 (TTAB 1978); In re Int’l Tel.
& Tel. Corp., 197 USPQ 910 (TTAB 1978); TMEP §1207.01(a)(i).

Accordingly, registration must be refused because the average purchaser would be likely to

conclude that applicant’s goods and the goods and services in the cited registrations emanate from

a common source,

Prior Pending Apg]ications

Additionally, information regarding pending Application Serial Nos. 78348740 and 76589400 is
enclosed. The effective filing dates of the referenced applications precede the applicant’s filing

. date. There may be a likelihood of confision under Trademark Act Section 2(d) between

applicant’s mark and the referenced marks. If one or more of the referenced applications mature
into' a registration, registration may be refused in this case under Section 2(d). 37 C.F.R. §2.83;
TMEP §§1208.01 and 1208.01(b).

Although the trademark examining attorney has refused registration, applicant may respond to the
refusal to register by submitting evidence and arguments in support of registration, If applicant
chooses to respond to the refusal(s) to register, then applicant must also respond to the following
requirement(s). : , :

- Identification of Goods

S_bme of the wording in the identification of goods needs clarification because it is overly broad.
Specifically, “cooked deli items™ is overly broad. Applicant must specify the common commercial
name for the goods. TMEP §1402.01.

“Refrigerated salads” in the identification also is overly broad. In this regard, applicant must
specify the type of salads. Please note that some salads, e. 2., macaroni salad are in Class 30.

Applicant also must specify the type of frozen entrees. In this regard, please note that some entrees
are in Class 30, e.g. frozen entrees consisting primarily of rice.

Applicant may adopt the following identification, if accurate:

Deli ineats; cooked deli items, namely, [specify common commercial name for each
item]; cheese; refrigerated salads, namely, [specify type, e.g., “salads except
macaroni, rice, and pasta salad]; pickles, bagged potato chips, frozen soups; frozen entrees,
namely, entrees consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or vegetables, in Class 29

Deli mustard, in Class 30,

Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana
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Please note that, while the identification of goods may be amended to clarify or limit the goods,
adding to the goods or broadening the scope of the goods is not permitied. 37 C.F.R. §2.71(a);
TMEP §1402.06. Therefore, applicant may not amend the identification to include goods that
are not within the scope of the goods set forth in the present identification,

Additionally, please note that fees are based upon the number of classes covered in an application.

 If applicant adopts a suggested description of goods that covers more than two classes, then an

additional fee will be required. In this regard, applicant should note the following multiple-
classification requirements.

Multiple—classificaﬁon Requirements

If applicant prosecutes this application as a combined, or multiple-class application, then applicant
must comply with each of the following for those goods and/or services based on an intent to use
the mark in commerce under Trademark Act Section 1(b): '

(1) Applicant must list the goods and/or services by international class with the classes listed in
ascending numerical order. TMEP § 1403.01; and '

(2) Applicant must submit a filing fee for each international class of goods and/or services not
covered by the fee already paid. 37 C.F.R. §2.86(a)(2); TMEP §§810.01 and 1403.01.

Disclaimer

Applicant must disclaim the descriptive wording “MARKET” apart from the mark as shown
because it merely describes a feature of applicant’s goods. Trademark Act Section 6, 15 U.S.C.
§1056; TMEP §§1213 and 1213.03(a). Specifically, it appears the goods will be sold in a market.

The Office can require an applicant to disclaim exclusive rights to an unregistrable part of a mark,
rather than refuse registration of the entire mark. Trademark Act Section 6(a), 15 U.S.C. §1056(a).
Under Trademark Act Section 2(e), 15 U.8.C. §1052(e), the Office can refuse registration of the
entire mark where it is determined that the entire mark is merely descriptive, deceptively -
misdescriptive, or primarily geographically descriptive of the goods. Thus, the Office may require
the disclaimer of a portion of a mark which, when used in connection with the goods or services, is
merely descriptive, deceptively misdescriptive, primarily geographically descriptive, or otherwise
unregistrable (e.g., gemeric). TMEP §1213.03(a). If an applicant does not comply with a
disclaimer requirement, the Office may refuse registration of the entire mark, TMEP §1213.01(b).

A disclaimer does rot physically remove the disclaimed matter from the mark, but rather is a
written statement that applicant does not claim exclusive rights to the disclaimed wording and/or
design separate and apart from the mark as shown in the drawing. ‘

The computerized printing format for the Office’s Trademark Official Gazette requires a
standardized format for a disclaimer. TMEP §1213.08(2)(i). The following is the standard format
used by the Office:

No claim is made to the exclusive right to use “MARKET” apart from the mark as shown.

Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



See In re Owatonna Tool Co., 231 USPQ 493 (Comm’s Pats, 1983.);

If applicant has any questions, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned.
fmld/

Maureen L. Dﬁl :

Trademark Attorney, Law Office 110
United States Patent and Trademark Office

. Phone: 571-272-9714

NOTICE: TRADEMARK OPERATION RELOCATION

The Trademark Operation has relocated to Alexandria, Virginia. Effective Qctober 4, 2004, all
Trademark-related paper mail (except documents sent to the Assignment Services Division for
recordation, certain documents filed under the Madrid Protocol, and requests for copies of
trademark documents) must be sent to: S

Commissioner for Trademarks
P.O. Box 1451
Alexandria, VA 22313-1451

Applicants, attorneys and other Trademark customers are strongly encouraged to correspond with
the USPTO online via the Trademark FElectronic Application System (TEAS), at

http://www.uspto.gov/teas/index.html. '

How to respond to this Office Action:

You may respond formally using the Office's Trademark Electronic Application System (TEAS)
Response to Office Action form (visit http://eteas.uspto.gov/V2.0/0a242/WIZARD htm and follow
the instructions therein, but you must wait until at least 72 hours after receipt if the office action
issued via e-mail). PLEASE NOTE: Responses to Office Actions on applications filed under the
Madrid Protocol (Section 66(2)) CANNOT currently be filed via TEAS.

To respond formally via regular mail, your response should be sent fo the mailing Return Address

listed above and include the serial number, law office and examining attorney’s name on the upper
right comer of each page of your response.

To check the status of your application at any time, visit the Office’s Trademark Applications and
Registrations Retrieval (TARR) system at http:/tarr.uspto.gov/

For general and other useful information about trademarks, you are encouraged to visit the Office’s

web site at http://www.uspto.gov/main/trademarks.htm

FOR INQUIRIES OR QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS OFFICE ACTION, PLEASE CONTACT
THE ASSIGNED EXAMINING ATTORNEY. :

Défen‘dant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

SERIAL NO: 78/432642 AUG 2 2005
APPLICANT: Independent Marketing Alliance LP IM""IM’H“MMMM‘
: il
CORRESPONDENT ADDRESS: RETURN ADDRESS:
Bartt G. Thompson Commissioner for Trademarks
Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C. P.O. Box 1451
1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor Alexanddia, VA 223131451

Houston, TX 77002

If oo fees are enclosed, the address should
include the words "Box Responses - Mo Fes "
MARK: COBBLESTONE MARKET

CORRESPONDENT"S REF ERENCE/DOCKET NO: N/A - Please provide in all comespondence:

! L. Filing date, serial number, mark and
CORRESPONDENT EMAIL, ADDRESS: pplcontsmame,
. Date of this Office Action.
. Examining Attorney’s name and
Law Office number,
. Your telephone number and email
address. :

b

" RE: Serial Number 78/432642

EXAMINER’S AMENDMENT

'OFFICE RECORDS SEARCH: The Office records have been searched and no similar registered
or pending mark has been found that would bar registration under Trademark Act Section 2(d), 15
U.S.C. §1052(d).. TMEP §704.02.

ADVISORY —~ AMENDMENTS TO GOODS/SERVICES: If the identification of goods and/or
services has been amended below, any future amendments must be in accordance with 37 C.F.R.
§2.71(a) and TMEP §1402.07(c). :

AMENDMENT(S) AUTHORIZED: As authorized by Bartt G. Thompson on August 1, 2005,
the application is amended as noted below. If applicant disagrees with or objects to any of the

amendments below, please notify the undersigned trademark examining attorney immediately.
Otherwise, no response is necessary. TMEP §707.

Identification of Goods

The identification of goods is amended to read as follows, TMEP §1402.01.




-4

Deli meats; cooked deli items, namely, soups, and vegetables; cheese; refrigerated salads except
macaroni, tice, and pasta salad; pickles; bagged potato chips, frozen soups; frozen entrees, namely,
entrees consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or vegetables, in Clasg 29,

Deli mustard; cooked deli items, namely, sandwiches, in Class 30.

Please also note that the refusal under Section 2(d) is withdrawn and the citation of the pending
applications is withdrawn. The disclaimer of “MARKET” is acknowledged.

If applicant has any questions, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned,

/mld/

. Maureen L. Dall

Trademark Attomey, Law Office 110
United States Patent and Trademark Office
Phone: 571-272-9714

Defendant IMA'S Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana
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Tradgmarfr Trial and Appeal Board Efectronic Fiing Systom. hifp;/fastta usplo.gov
ESTTA Tracking number: ESTTA105335

Flling date: 10/20/2006

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APFEAL BOARD

'

Proceeding 91167151

Pariy Defendant

independent Marketing Alliance LP
Independent Marketing Alliance LP
16000 Memorial Drive, Suite 200
Houston, TX 77079

Correspondence | Bartl G. Thompson

Address Pagel, Davis &amp; Hill, P.C.
1415 Louisiana, 22nd Floor
Houston, TX 77002

mbh@pdhlaw.com
Submission Motion to Amend Application -
Filer's Name Martyn B. Hiil
Filer's e-mail mbh@pdhlaw.com
Signature I8/ Martyn 8. Hill
Date 10/20/2006
Attachments PLD0.20061020.MOT to Amend Application.pdf { 3 pages )(12337 bytes )

 EXHIBIT NO.

S. GRAHAM -
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

FLOWERS BAKERIES

)
BRANDS, INC., } Opposition No. 81167151
' )
Opposer )
) In the Matter of Application
v. ) Serial No. 78/432642
) Mark: COBBLESTONE MARKET
INDEPENDENT MARKETING ) :
ALLIANCE LP, }
: ) Filing Date: December 6, 2005
Applicant. ) Published: September 20, 2005

APPLICANT'S UNOPPOSED MOTION
FOR LEAVE TO AMEND APPLICATION

Now comes Applicant, Distribution Marketing Services, L.P., formerly
Independent Marketing Alliance, L.P., and submits this Unopposed Motion for Leave to
Amend Application pursuant to 37 C.F.R. §2.133. Applicant seeks to amend its Intent to
Use Application (“Application") because Applicant believes it is entitled to registration of
the 'mark, COBBLESTONE MARKET, as amended. Opposer has consented to the
proposed amended application but otherwisé reserves all rights.

The amendment of any application or registration which is the subject of an inter
partes proceediné before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board (the "Board”) is
governed by 37 C.F.R, §2.133. TBMP §514.01. 37 C.F.R. §2.133 permits an applicant
to request that the identification of goods and services in its own application be
restricted, if such a restriction wauld avoid likelihood of confusion. Space Base Inc. v.
Stadis Corp., 17 USPQ2d 1216 {TTAB 1990). The application will be amen;jed as fong
as the amendment is supported by or is not inconsistent with evidence adduced at trial.

ld.
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A proposed amendment to any application or registration that is the subject of an
inter partes proceeding must also comply with all other applicable rules and statutory
provisions. TBMP §514.01. Section 2.71(a) of the Rules of Practice in Trademark
Cases permits an applicant to amend its application to clarify or limit, but not broaden,
the identification of goods and/or services. 37 C.F.R. §2.71(a). Again, Opposer has
consented to the proposed amended application. -

Applicant requests that the identification of goods in its Application be amended
as follows:

(@)  "Deli meats; cooked deli items, namely, soups—and-vegetables;
cheese; refrigerated salads except macaroni, rice, and pasta salad;
pickles; bagged potato chips, frozen soups; frozen entrees, namely,
entrees consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or vegetables, in

Class 29"
(b) g } ; i 3 ? i T j 3

By removing the stricken text above from the identification of goods, the
proposed amendment to the Application limits the identification of goods-and, therefore,
is proper under 37 C.F.R. §2.71. The proposed amendment makes no attempt to
broaden the identification of goods or services and the mark, as amended, is not likely
to cause confusion with the mark for Opposer's goods.

Applicant believes the Application, as amended, will narrow the issues in dispute
betore the Board thereby saving time and resources of the parties and the Board.
Applicant therefore requests approval of the V-Iar:n_endment by the Board. Should the

Board find that additional amendment to the Application is necessary, Applicant

Defendant IMA's Trial Tes‘f'irﬁ--'ony”of Robert Fontana
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_respectfully requests that the Board allow Applicant to amend its Appiication to conform
to the findings of the Board.
Respectfully submitted,

{s/ Martyn B. Hill

Martyn B. Hill

Bartt G. Thompson

PAGEL, DAVIS & HILL, P.C.
1415 Louisiana, 22™ Floor
Houston, Texas 77002
Telephong: 713-951-0160
Facsimile: 713-951-0662
Attorneys for Applicant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This is to certify that on this the 20" day of October, 2008, a copy of this
Unopposed Motion for Leave to Amend Application was served via facsimile upon:

Theodore H. Davis Jr.

QOlivia Maria Baratta

KILPATRICK STOCKTON, LLP .

1100 Peachtree Street

Allanta, Georgia 30309-4530
{s/ Marty B, Hill
Martyn B. Hill
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Trademark Trial and Appeal Board
P.O. Box 1451
Alexandria, VA 22313-1451

Mailed: December 8, 2006
Opposition No. 91167151

Flowers Bakeries Brands,
Inc.

V.

Independent Marketing
Alliance LP

Frances 5. Wolfson, Interlocutéry Attorney:

On October 20, 2006, applicént filed a proposed amendment
to its application Serial No. 78&32642, with opposer's
consent.

By the proposed amendment applicant seeks to chaﬁge the
identification of goods from "Deli meats; cooked deli items,
namely, soups, and vegetables; cheese; refrigerated salads
except macaroni, rice, and pasta salad; pickles; bagged potato
chips, frozen soups; frozen entrees, namely, entrees
consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or vegetables;
Deli mustard; coocked deli itemsh‘namely, sandwiches " to "Deli
meats; cooked deli items, namely, soups; cheese; refrigerated
salads except macaroni, rice, and pasta salad; pickles; bagged
potato chips, frozen soups; frozen entrees, namely, entrees

consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or vegetables."

Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE



fﬂ%Inasmuch as the amendment is clearly limiting in nature
aé‘reqpired by Trademark Rule 2.71(b), and because opposer

congents thereto, it 'is approved and entered. See Trademark

-

Rule 2.133(a). Please note that because opposer’s written

congsent to the abandonment is not of record, that with respect

to goods of Class 30 only, judgment is hereby entered against

fﬁ?ﬁiicant, the opposition is sustained and registration is

refused. See Trademark Rule 2.135; TBMP § 602.01 (24 ed. rev.

S

2004) .

If this resolves the dispute herein, opposer is allowed

until thirty days from the mailing date of this order to file

a withdrawal of the opposition, failing which the opposition
will go forward on the application as amended. 8See Trademark
Rule 2.106(¢).

Opposer’s consented motion (filed September 20, 2006) for

leave to amend the notice of opposition is hereby granted.
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

APPLICANT: INDEPENDENT MARKETING ALLIANCE LP

SERIAL NO.: 78/432,642 CLASSES: 29, 30
. FILED: June 9, 2004 EXAMINER: Dall, M.
MARK: COBBLESTONE MARKET LAW OFFICE: 110
AMENDMENT “A"
Commissioner for Trademarks
P.O. Box 1451

Alexandria, VA 22313-1451
Sir:

In response to the Official Action of January 10, 2005, a response being due by July 10,
2005, please amend the above-identified application as follows:

I ON

In the identification of the Applicant, please insert the following names of the general
partners - having Disttibution Marketing Services GP, L.L.C., a limited liability company of
Delaware, as its general partner.—.

In the identification of goods in International Class 29, please delete the previous
recitations and insert therefor -~ Deli meats; cooked deli items, namely, sandwiches, soups, and

) veéetables; cheese; salads except macaroni, rice, and pasta salad; pickles; bagged potato chips,

frozen soups; frozen entrees, namely, entrees consisting primarily of meat, fish, poultry or
vegetables, in Internationat Class 29.--.

Please insert the following disclaimer -- No claim is made to the exclusive right to use

"MARKET" apart from the mark as shown.--.
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INFORMATLITIES

In reply to the Official Action, Applicant has amended the present application so as to
comply with the Examiner's requirements. In particular, Applicant has amended the
identification of goods in order to comply with the Examiner’s suggestions. Applicant has also
amended the application to include the name and citizenship of the general partner. Applicant
has further included a disclaimer of the descriptive term "MARKET".

REMARKS

In the Official Action, the Examiner has initially refused registration on the Principal
Register because of the "likelihood of confusion” of the mark with three prior registered marks.
As to each mark, Applicant’s attorey disagrees, and believes that the Examiner has failed to
make a prima facie showing of likelihood of confusion.
1. No likelihood of confusion between Applicant's mark and U.S. Reg. No. 1,037,938
A. The marks are dissimilar in appearance

In making the argument for the rejection as to confusing similarity, the Bxamiﬁer points
to only a portion of the mark, specifically the term "COBBLESTONE". However, Applicant's
mark is "COBBLESTONE MARKET™ and the cited registrant's mark is "BOSTON
COBBLESTONE", as such the mark must be reviewed for likelihood of confusion a3 a whole
and should not be broken into component parts to reach a conclusion of confusing similarity, Jn
re Hearst Corp., 25 U.S.P.Q.2d 1238, 1239 (Fed. Cir. 1992) (“marks tend to be perceived in their
entireties, and all components thereof must be given appropriate weight.”, . . .“When GIRL is
given fair weight, along with VARGA, confusion with VARGAS becomes less likely.). Itis well

established that there is nothing improper, under certain circumstances, to give more or less
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weight to a particular portion of a mark. See In re National Data Corp., 753 F.2d 1056, 224
USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir. 1985). The cited registrant's mark is the word mark "BOSTON
COBBLESTONE". Applicant's mark is for the word mark "COBBLESTONE MARKET".
Accordingly, the marks are obviously not similar in appearance, connotation, or sound. As such,
the Applicant feels that the above arguments show that the marks are not similar eﬁough fora
finding of a likelihood of confusion.

B. Applicant's mark and the reference mark differ in commercial impression

It is conceded that Applicant's mark and the reference mark share the common term
"COBBLESTONE". It is submitted, however, that Applicant's mark and the reference mark
differ in commercial impression becanse an addition, subtraction or substitution of letters or
words, may or may not be sufficient to make the marks dissimilar in appearance, depending on
the overall commercial impression given to the relevant public. T.M.E.P. § 1207.01(b)(ii). Itis
also well established that there is nothing improper, under certain circumstances, to give more or
less weight to a particular portion of a mark. See In re National Data Corp., 753 £.2d 1056, 224
USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir. 1985).

The cited registrant's mark is a word mark consisting of the term "BOSTON
COBBLESTONE" for use in association with cheese. The commercial imipression of the cited
tegistrant's mark is the mental image of a northeastern area handmade cheese, The term
"COBBLESTONE" is often used to suggest a handerafted good similar to old cobblestone roads,
and the use of the term "BOSTON" is often used as a positive suggestive term for association
with the northeastern United States area products. More importantly, since Boston is not

particularly known for producing cheese (notice the registrant is a Wisconsin company),
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consumers would retain and recognize the "BOSTON" portion of the mark over the laudatory
"COBBLESTONE" portion of the mark.

The Applicant's mark is for the term "COBBLESTONE MARKET" in association with
deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, salads pickles, potato chips, souI.:-s, entrees, and mustard, in
International Classes 29 and 30. The commetcial impression is different because the mark
"COBBLESTONE MARKET" is a suggestive term used to associate the goods of the Applicant
with the impression of handcrafted goods being offered for sale in 2 market or delicatessen,

The marks "COBBLBSTONE MARKET" and "BOSTON COBBLESTONE" are not
similar in either appearance, spelling, pronunciation, or commercial impression to the degree to
cause confusion between the two. The marks also have distinct meanings that are separate and
independent of each other. As can be seen from the above arguments, ther_e is no likelihood of
confusion,

C.  Third party usage evidence shows that "COBBLESTONE" is 2 weak mark

The cited registratioﬁ is for the common term "BOSTON" in conjunction with another
common term "COBBLESTONE". The connection between the Applicant's mark and the cited
registration which forms the basis of the Examiner's refusal is the same term “COBBLESTONE",
The term "COBBLESTONE" in relation to trademarks has a varied and widespread use. The
TTAB has given weight to credible and probative evidence of widespread, significant, and
unrestrained use by third parties of marks containing elements in common to demonstrate that
confusion is not, in fact, likely. Miles Labs. Inc. v. Naturally Vitamin Supplements Inc., 1
U.8.P.Q.2d 1445, 1462 (TTAB 1986). Applicant contends that the mark "COBBLESTONE" isa

weak mark which is used to describe numerous goods and services outside of the scope of the
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Registrant's goods. The accompanying sample of a TESS list of registrations and applications (80
Records) is probative to demonstrate that the term "COBBLESTONE" has been adopted by 2
number of other users as a good or service designation, Attached hereto as Attachment "4". In
the case of weak marks, even slight differences between the marks may be deemed sufficient to
~ avoid a finding that confusion is likely. See Jn re Dayco Products -Eaglemotive Inc., 9
U.8.P.Q.2d 1910, 1912 (TTAB 1988) ("As such, we find the term to be a relatively weak mark
and we agree with applicant that the scope of protection afforded such a mark is considérably
narrower than that afforded a more arbitrary designation.™); see also In re Copytele Inc., 31
U.8.P.Q.2d 1540, 1542 (TTAB 1994). The Applicant's mark includes the additional term
“MARKET" to make the mark "COBBLESTONE MARKET". Due to the dilute nature of the
mark "COBBLESTONE" the scope of protection afforded such a mark is considerably narrower
k _3 than that afforded a more arbitrary designation. As such, the additions and deletions in the
| Applicant's mark are as such that the purchasing consumer would not be confused as to the
source of the respective goods. The term "COBBLESTONE" is a very dilute mark similar to
such a degree that the public is inundated with this term in day to day life on an assortment of
goods and services, and therefore it should be granted very narrow protection on this basis. As
can be seen from the above arguments, there is no fikelihood of confusion.
IL No likelihood of confusion between Applicant's mark and U.S. Reg. No. 1,920,539
A.  The marks are dissimilar in appearance
In making the argument for the rejection as to confusing similarity, the Examiner points
to only 2 portion of the mark, specifically the term "COBBLESTONE". However, Applicant's

mark is "COBBLESTONE MARKET" and the cited registrant's mark is "COBBLESTONE
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KITCHENS", as such the mark must be reviewed for likelihood of confusion as a whole and
should not be broken into component parts to reach a conclusion of confusing similarity. Jn re
Hearst Corp., 25 U.S.P.Q.2d 1238, 1239 (Fed. Cir. 1992) (“marks tend to be perceived in their
entireties, and all components thereof must be given appropriate weight.”, . . “When GIRL is
given fair weight, along with VARGA, confusion with VARGAS becomes less likely.). It is well
established that there is nothing improper, under certain circumstances, to give more or less
weight to a particular portion of a mark. See Jn re National Data Corp., 753 F.2d 1056, 224
USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir. 1985). The cited registrant's mark is the word mark "COBBLESTONE
KITCHENS". Applicant's mark is for the word mark "COBBLESTONE MARKET",
Accordingly, the marks are obviously not similar in appearance, connotation, or sound. As such,
the Applicant feels that the above arguments show that the marks are not similar enough for a
finding of a likelihood of confusion.
B. Applicant's mark and the reference mark differ in commercial impression

It is conceded that Applicant's mark and the reference mark share the common term
"COBBLESTONE ". It is submitted, however, that Applicant's mark snd the reference_mark
differ in commercial impression because an addition, subtraction or substitution of letters or
words, may or may not be sufficient to make the marks dissimilar in appearanc.:e, depending on
the overall commercial impression given to the relevant public. T.M.E.P. § 1207.01(b)Gi). It is
also well established that there is nothing improper, under ceriain circumstances, to give more or
less weight to a particular portion of a mark. See In re National Data Corp., 753 F.2d 1056, 224
USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir. 1985).

The cited registrant's mark is a word mark consisting of the term "COBBLESTONE

G-
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KITCHENS" used in association with hot chocolate, coffee, and dairy based beverages. The
commercial impression of the cited registrant's mark is the idea of a bandmade kitchen of
restaurant. The term "COBBLESTONE" is often used to suggest a handcrafted good similar to
old cobblestone roads, and the use of the term "KITCHENS" is often used to describe
restaurants,

The Applicant's mark is for the term "COBBLESTONE MARKET" in association with
deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, salads pickles, potato chips, soups, entrees, and mustard, in
International Classes 29 and 30, The commercial impression is different because the mark
"COBBLESTONE MARKET"isa suggeslivg term used to associate the goods of the Applicant
with the i.mpression of handcerafted goods being offered for sale in a market or delicatessen.

The marks "COBBLESTONE MARKET" and "COBBLESTONE KITCHENS" are not _
similar in either appearance, spelling, pronunciation, or commercial impression to the degree to
cause confusion between the two. The marks also have distinct meanings that are scparate and

independtmt of each other. As can be seen from the above arguments, there is no likelihood of
confusion.

C. Different channels of trade

Relatedness, or channels of trade, means, in this context, that the goaods or services of
applicant and the registrant are related in some manner or some circumstance surrounding the
marketing such that they are likely to be encountered by the relevant public under circumstances
that will give rise to the mistaken belief that they originate from or in some way are associated
with or sponsored by the same producer. The nature of the respective party’s goods or services,

and thus their relatedness, is determined o the basis of the goods or services set forth in the
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application or registration. In re Dixie Restaurants Inc., 41 U.S.P.Q.2d 1531, 1534 (Fed. Cir.
1997)("Indeed, the second DuPont factor expressly mandates consideration of the similarity or
dissimilarity of the services as described in an application or registration.”). Applicant's channels
of trade are limited to deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, salads pickles, potato chips, soups,
entrees, and mustard. The cited registrant's channels of trade are for restricted to hot chocolate,
coffee, and dairy based beverages. These goods are not related in function and would never be
purchased at the sa;?ne time, nor would they be encountered by the relevant public under
circumstances that will give rise to the mistaken belief that they originate from or in some way
are associated with or sponsored by the same producer. .

The Examiner is correct in stating that the goods need not be identical or directly
competitive to find confusion, as they need only be related in some matter that they could be
encountered by the same purchasers under circumstances that could give rise to the mistaken
belief that the goods come from a common source. The Applicant respectfully asserts that the
Examiner is incorrect in stating "The goods of the applicant and of the registrants’ are similar if
not identical in that all of the marks in question are for health consumable related items..The
goods of the applicant and of the registrant are likely to travel in the same channels of trade,
namely, heaith food stores, grocery stores, et al.". See Examiner § Qfficial Action at Page 2. The
Applicant respectfully disagrees with this reasoning, By using this same rationale, it could be
said that a purchaser at a large store could come into contact with goods as different as a bottle of
aspirin and a package of ground beef. Is a consumer going to be confused between a company
that makes aspirin and a company that packages ground beef as to believe they come from the

same source? The answer is no. This same rationale would support a finding of a likelihood of
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confusion between the cited registrant's goods and such varied goods as bread, beer and salad )
dressing,...etc. Just because the Appl'icant’s goods and the cited registrant's poods may be orally
consumed by humans does not mean these goods travel in the same channels of trade. Nor does
the fact that a modern supermarket with goods as various as makeup and dog food support that
the goods travel in the same channels of trade. It is well settled that the fundamental inquiry
mandated by §2(d) goes to the cumulative effect of differences in the essential characteristics of
the goods and differences in the marks.” See Federated Foods, Inc. v. Fort Howard Paper Co.,
344 F.2d 1098, 192 USPQ 24, 29 (CCPA 1976). A wide vatiety of products, not only from
different manufacturers within an industry, but also from diverse industries, have been brought
together in the modem supermarket for the convenience of the consumer. The mere existence of
such an environment should not foreclose further inquiry into the likelihood of confusion arising
from the use of similar marks on any goods 50 displayed. See Jd. As such, as can be seen from
the above arguments, there is no likelihood of confusion.
D.  Third party usage evidence shows that "COBBLESTONE" is a weak mark

The cited registration is for the common word "COBBLESTONE" in conjunction with
another common term "KITCHENS". The connection between the Applicant's mark and the
cited registration which forms the basis of the Examiners refusal is the same term
"COBBLESTONE". The term "COBBLESTONE" in relation to trademarks has a—varied and

widespread use. The TTAB has given weight to credible and probative evidence of widespread,

~ significant, and unrestrained use by third parties of marks containing elements in common to

demonstrate that confusion is not, in fact, likely. Miles Labs. Inc, v. Naturally Vitamin

- Supplements Inc., 1 U.8,2.Q.2d 1445, 1462 (TTAB 1986). Applicant contends that the mark
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"COBBLESTONE" is a weak mark which is used to describe numerous goods and services
outside of the scope of the Registrant's goods. The accompanying sample of a TESS list of
registrations and applications (80 Records) is probative to demonstrate that the term
"COBBLESTONE" has been adopted by a number of other users as a good or service
designation. Attached hereto as Attachment “A". In the case of weak marks, even slight
differences between the marks ﬁmy be deemed sufficient to avoid a finding that confusion is

likely. See Inre Dayco Products -Eaglemotive Inc., 9 U.8.P.Q.2d 1910, 1912 (TTAB 1988) ("As

such, we find the term to be a relatively weak mark and we agree with applicant that the scope of

protection afforded such a mark is considemb}y narrower than that afforded a more arbitrary
designation.”); see also In re Copytele Inc., 31 U.S.P.Q.2d 1540, 1542 (TTAB 1994). The
Applicant's mark includes the additional term "MARKET" to make the mark "COBBLESTONE
MARKET". Due to the dilute nature of the mark "COBBLESTONE", the scope of protection
afforded such a mark is considerably narrower than that afforded a more arbitrary designation.
As such, the additions and deletions in the Applicant's mark are as such that the purchasing
consumer would not be confused as to the source of the respective goods. The term
"COBBLESTONE" is a very dilute mark similar to such a degree that the public is inﬁndated
with this term in day to day life on an assortment of goods and services, and therefore it should
be granted very narrow protection on this basis. As can be seen from the ahove arguments, there
is no likelihood of confusion.

HI. No likelihood of confusion between Applicant's mark and U.S. Reg, No. 2,741,252

A.  Themarks are dissimilar in appearance

In making the argument for the rejection as to confusing similarity, the Examiner points
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to onl,;/ a portion of the mark, specifically the term "COBBLESTONE". However, Applicant's
mark is "COBBLESTONE MARKET" and the cited registrant's mark is "COBBLESTONE
RESTAURANT & BAR", as such the ﬁmzk must be reviewed for likelihood of confusion as a
whole and should not be broken into component parts to reach a conclusion of confusing -
'sinﬁlarity. In re Hearst Corp., 25 U.S.P.Q.2d 1238, 1239 (Fed. Cir. 1992) (“marks tend to be
perceived in their entireties, and all components thereof must be given appropriate weight.”. . .
“"When GIRL is given fair weight, along with VARGA, confusion with VARGAS. becomes less
likely.). It is well established that there is nothing improper, under certain circumstances, to give
more or less weight to a particular portion of a mark. See In re National Data Corp., 753 F.24
1056, 224 USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir. 1985). The cited registrant's mark is the word mark
"COBBLESTONE RESTAURANT & BAR". Applicant's mark is for the word mark
"COBBLESTONE MARKET". Accordingly, the marks are obviously not similar in appearance,
connotation, or sound. As such, the Applicant feels that the above arguments show that the
marks are not similar enough for a finding of a likelihood of confusion.
B. Applicant's mark and the reference mark differ in commercial impression

It is conceded that Applicant's mark and the reference marks share the common term
"COBBLESTONE ". It is submitted, however, that Applicant's. mark and the reference mark
differ in commercial impression because an addition, subtraction or substitution of letters or
words, may or may not be sufficient to make the marks dissimilar in appearance, depending on
the overall commerciel impression given to the relevant public. TME.P, § 1207.01(b)Gi). Itis
also well established that there is nothing improper, under certain circumstances, to give more or

less weight to a particular portion of a mark. See In re National Data Corp., 753 F.2d 1056, 224
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USPQ 749 (Fed.Cir, 1985).

The cited registrant's mark is a word mark consisting of the term "COBBLESTONE
RESTAURANT & BAR" used in association with restaurant services. The commercial |
impression of the cited registrant's mark is the idea of an old eatery and bar. The term
"COBBLESTONE" is often used to suggest a handcrafted good similar to old cobblestone roads,
and the use of the term "RESTAURANT & BAR" is abviously used to describe restaurant and
bar services.

The Applicant's mark s for the term "COBBLESTONE MARKET" in association with
deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, salads pickles, potato chips, soups, entrees, and mustard, in
International Classes 29 and 30. The commercial impression is different because the mark
“COBBLESTONE MARKET" is a suggestive term used to associate the goods of the Applicant
with the impression of handcrafted goods being offered for sale in a market or delicatessen.

The marks "COBBLESTONE MARKET" and "COBBLESTONE RESTAURANT &
BAR" are not similar in either appearance, spelling, pronunciation, or commercial impression to
the degree to cause confusion between the two. The marks also have disﬁnct meanings that are
separate and independent of each other. As can be seen from the above arguments, there is no
likelthood of confusion.

C.  Different channels of trade

Relatedness, or channels of trade, means, in this context, that the goods or services of
applicant and the registrant are related in some manner or some circumstance surrounding the
marketing such that they are likely to be encountered by the relevant public under circumstances

thatwillgiverisetothemistakenbelieftha:ﬂ:eyoriginate from or in some way are associated
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with or sponsored by the same producer. The nature of the respective party's goods or services,
and thus their relatedness, is determined on the basis of the goods or services set forth in the
application or registration. Jn re Dixie Restaurants Inc., 41 U.S.P.Q.2d 1531, 1534 (Fed. Cir.
1997)("Indeed, the second DuPont factor expressly mandates consideration of the similarity or
dissimilarity of the services as described in an application or registration.”). Applicant's channels
of trade are limited to deli meats, cooked deli items, cheese, salads pickies, potato chips, Soups,
entrees, and mustard. The cited registrant’s channels of trade are for restricted to restaurant
services, There is no per se rule which mandates a finding that confusion is likely whenever
foods and restaurant services are sold under similar marks. See, e.g.: Jacobs v. International
Multifoods Corp., 668 F.2d 1234, 212 USPQ 641 (CCPA 1982} [no likelihood of confusion
between BOSTON TEA PARTY for tea and BOSTON SEA PARTY for restaurant services; "a
party must show something more than that similar or even identical marks are used for food
products and for restaurant services"); and Inn re Central Soya Company, Inc., 220 USPQ 914
(TTAB 1984) [no likelihood of confusion between POSADA (stylized) for Mexican style
prepared frozen enchiladas and LA POSADA for lodging and restaurant services}. The
Examiner has not shown the requisite "something more" other than the alleged similar marks
used for food products and restaurant services, These goods and services are not related in
function and would never be purchased at the same time, nor would they be encountered by the -
relevant public under circumstances that will give rise to the mistaken belief that they originate
from or in some way are associated with or sponsored by the same producer. It is well settled
that the fundamental inquiry mandated by §2(d) goes to the cumulative effect of differences in
the essential characteristics of the goods and differences in the marks.” See Federated Foods,
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Inc. v. Fort Howard Paper Co., 544 F.2d 1098, 192 USPQ 24, 29 (CCPA 1976). As such, as can
be seen from the above arguments, there is no likelihood of confusion,
D.  Third party usage evidence shows that "COBBLESTONE" is a weak mark

The cited registration is for the common word "COBBLESTONE" in cbnjunction with
another common term "RESTAURANT & BAR". The connection between the Applicant's mark
and the cited registration which forms the basis of the Examiners refusal is the same term
"COBBLESTONE". The term "COBBLESTONE" in relation to trademarks has a varied and
widespread use. The TTAB has given weight to credible and probative evidence of widespread,
significant, and unrestrained use by third parties of marks containing elements in commeon to
demonstrate that confusion is not, in fact, likely. Miles Labs. Inc. v. Naturally Vitamin
Supplements Inc., 1 U.S.P.Q.2d 1445, 1462 (TTAB 1986). Applicant contends that the mark
"COBBLESTONE" is a weak mark which is used to describe numerous goods and services
outside of the scope of the Registrant's goods. The accompanying sample of a TESS list of
registrations and applications (80 Records) is probative to demonstrate that the term
"COBBLESTONE" has been adopted by a number of other users as a good or service
designation. Attached hereto as Attachment "A". In the case of weak marks, even slight
differences between the marks may be deemed sufficient to avoid a finding that confusion is
likely. See In re Dayco Products -Eaglemotive Inc., 9 U.S.P.Q.2d 1910, 1912 (TTAB 1988) ("As
such, we find the term to be a relatively weak mark and we agree with applicant that the scope of
protection afforded such a2 mark is considerably narrower than that afforded a more arbitvary
designation.”); see also Inre Copytele Inc., 31 U.S.P.Q.2d 1540, 1542 (TTAB 1994), The
Applicant’s mark includes the additional term "MARKET" to make the mark "COBBLESTONE
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MARKET". Dae to the dilute nature of the mark "COBBLESTONE" the scope of protection
afforded such a mark is considerably narrower than that afforded a more arbitrary designation,
As such, the additions and deletions in the Applicant's mark are as such that the purchasing
consumer would not be confused as to the source of the respective goods. The term
"COBBLESTONE" is & very dilute mark similar to such & degree that the public is inundated
with this term in day to day life on an assortment of goods and services, and therefore it should
be granted very narrow protection on this basis. As can be seen from the above arguments, there
is no likelihood of confusion.

IV.  Conclusion

s Based on the foregoing analysis, Applicant requests that the Examiner reconsider the

original rejection of this application. As such, Applicant believes there will be no buyer
& confission as to the source of the goods and services and respectfully requests that the present

mark be passed to publication at an early date.

Respectfully submitted,

Date Bartt G. Thompson
Attorney for Applicant

Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C.
1415 Louisiana Street
22nd Floor

Houston, Texas 77002
(713)951-0160
(713)951-0662 (Fax)
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
APPLICANT: INDEPENDENT MARKETING ALLIANCE LP

SERIAL NO.: 78/432,642 CLASSES: 29, 30
FILED: June 9, 2004 EXAMINER: Dall, M.
MARK: COBBLESTONE MARKET LAW OFFICE: 110

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING UNDER 37 CFR 1.8(2)
Commissioner for Trademarks
P.0O. Box 1451
Alexandria, VA 22313-1451
Sir:
Thereby certify that the attached correspondence comprising:
AMENDMENT "A"

is being deposited with the United States Postal Service with sufficient postage as first class mail
in an envelope addressed to: ,

Commissioner for Trademarks

P.O. Box 1451
Alexandria, VA 22313-1451

Respectfully submitted,

Date _ Bartt G. Thompson
Attorney for Applicant

Pagel, Davis & Hill, P.C.
1415 Louisiana Street
22nd Floot

Houston, Texas 77002
{713)951-0160
(713)951-0662 (Fax)
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United States Patent and Trademark Office
Home[site Indwx|Search [FAQ| Glossary | Guides| Contacts] eBusiness| eBiz aterts [News|Help

Trademarks > Trademark Electronlc $Search System {TESS)

Trademark Electronic Search System(Tess)
TESS was last updated on Fri May 6 03:49:52 EDT 2005

Please logout when you are done fo release system rescurces allocated for you.

(st | or[Jump)t

Refine Search (cobblestone)]{COMB]

~ 50) ,
[e=n

Current Search; §2: {cobblestone)]COMB] docs: 80 ocg: 170

80 Records(s) found (This page: 1

Serlal Reg. ' ] Check
FAEA I Word rk =

H

[ I[r83s0848 | COBBLESTONE WALKING MATS TARR
[2 Jire884315 CAROLINA COBBLESTONE TARR _JIUVE ]
i3 |[zes8aTar | [COBBLESTONE CHILDREN'S CENTER TARR Ve |
14 |[reassdea | COBBLESTONE N TARR_JILIVE ]
[5 |fres7o274 [COBELESTONEPARK TARR _ JLVE ]
i6 lrés4s7a0 {COBBLESTONE Pizza _ITARR __JLivE |
[7_lir8305944 [MALIBU GOBBLESTONE/MALIBU STONE {TARR
8 ;78317071 |[2888028 |[HISTORIC EUROPEAN COBBLESTONE ~__|varR__JiUve |
o |[78275262 [COBBLESTONE BREAD B —__ |mARR_ JpEAD ]
10][78489439 [COBBLESTONE [TARR —JUvE |
11][78459483 | [cOBBLESTONE -~ mARR Ve
[12]jraa5a497 [COBBLESTONE ______JmaRr  Juve |
13{[78432842 [COBBLESTONE MARKET TARR _ JILWVE |
[14][7e507702 _)[2888462 IIE_VE—:I
T T R e e _|
[16]7es8ad00 | Wﬁmm
196 COBBLESTONES RESTAURANT & BAR _ TARR __JLIVE |
GALOTTOBRERD = [rARR JeAc |
[ofrezstets
[THE LIGHTS OF COBBLESTONE VILLAGE ___ |[TARR
2176181141 12617089 ] COBBLESTONE BRIDGE _ TARR__JLVE |
76191140 ][26069¢8 |[COBBLESTONE BRIDGE - ITARR _JLive |
[ I I f I !
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J(/'_"‘ .
|

[23]re191138 | lcOBBLESTONE BRIDGE . Jrarr Juve |
@mﬁ LESTONE BRIDGE TARR —JlIve ]
[25][ré191137 _Jj2617088 ||COBELESTONE BRIDGE TARR _JLIVE ]
[Bolfrets113s Josososo coBBLESTONEBRIDGE ———————— ——[iape —Juve ]
{27][76191134 _|[2648357 |/COBBLESTONE BRIDGE TARR _JUVE |
[28]re191133 |[2708067 ]|COBBLESTONE BRIDGE ___|TARR_JiLve |
-_-Iojam.esroue SMALL GROUP TOURS —__|FARR__JLIvE ]
omonsie s conm ST Tours TARR Ve |
. 2467128 ||COBBLESTONE SMALL GROUP TOURS TARR _JUVE |
(2l reasrer | pestas JEoBiESTONE [FARR JEve |
f3{reorassz |aoassey JicomBLEsTONES TARR
[34]l75323904 _|[2345932 |[COBBLESTONE CORNERS TARR _JILIVE |
13578977375 {coaauzs‘rone GOLF GROUP TARR _|DEAD |
|36][rs886264 COBBLESTONE SUITES TARR _|DEAD |
o7jree3stoe |2a27924 |coBBLESTONES TARR__|UVE |
|ooss|.ss1'one CLASSIC TARR
WE@
@]| COBBLESTONE TOURS FTARR _JIUVE |
(i[Fssontes |ziriszs |icopBLEsTONSS 7
[42]irs231447 [COBBLESTONE GOLF GROUP [YaRR
[erezoamaz |
e N T —
[45|[74348128 /1836321 ] ICOBBLESTONE MILL HEALTHY "N HEARTY
[8]f4712540 1091250 —|COBBLESTONE WL FraRR Ve ]
[47]{74661524 1[2044677 ||COBBLESTONE MiLL BREAKFAST BREADS |[FARR__|[DEAD ]
fe574053691 1637591 |COBELESTONE WAY — fare e ]
COBBLESTONE GLOVES —|maRR
4889789 _1[2049796 |[COBBLESTONE frarr Ve |
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United States Patent and Trademark Office
Home]Site Index|Search [FAQ]Glossary| Guldes|Contacts]eBusinass jeBix alerts | News[Help

Tradamarks > Trademark Electronlc Search System (TESS)

Trademark Electronic Search System(Tess)
TESS was last updated on Fri May 6 03:49:52 EDT 2005

mum it

Please logout when you are done to releass system resources allocated for you.

ke | or(me)® | -.Boag;acords(s) found (This page: 51
Refine Search (cobblestone)[COMB] | [ Submit ]

Current Search: 82: (cobblestone)[COMB] docs: 80 ccc; 170

Serial Numbe
OBBLESTONE CROSSING

Chack StatusiiLive/Dea

a,

Eifaeotsss Jroisror ] -
l52[[74s08848 | COBBLESTONE GREATIONS TARR
[53|[74348995  |[1840002 _ |/COBELESTONES TARR
6474203139 ][1772989  |[SAN FRANCISGO COBBLESTONE |TARR __llave
[55[74231108 _ ]1801363 _ |COBBLESTONE TARR |pEAD
[56][74200844 | 1920639 TARR”_ Jlve |
74083068 issa007
[selrsaaasat _ [11326250  JCOBBLESTONEMIL |TARR _ Jve |
73834260 _ J|1615981 _ COBBLESTONEVINEYARD __ |TARR ___ [IDEAD |
3786358 /1567880
E1lfrss03004 1446326 |
@ s ures
6373517870
4lFa4stsa0
1639 COBBLESTONE — — |TARR __|DEAD |
l6el[T3449828 [coBBLESTONES _ — — IvARR |
[rsatezis 07885 |lcoBBLESTONE CORNER. | TARR
[gell7a406783 __ |14362008 __||COBBLESTONE GLASSIC |[TARR DEAD |
273285522 | [CALIFORNIA DRIFT COBBLESTONE|TARR ___JDEAD |
7313260976 |1191719__ |ICOBBLESTONE KIDS TARR DEAD |
Pafrsaeasss —[tesrz2|coBmiEsTONE
e SELLEe L .
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[7sfizatozass  |h1as190  |cOBBLESTONE FARM |rarr __ |[psap |
lelratesz20 __li1aeaer |

77088968 —|iosoan —|BOSTON COBBLESTORE —— JTARR ——JLve ]
[efFsotars—Jicosoeo |
ofpiozeen s
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CM Merchandising Catalog

PROF 15 40T AH EXALY REPRESERTATEOH OF COLBR OF FIRAL PRINT QUALITY

NEWHALL XLEIN INC.
10 WEST KL AVENUE
M| KaLuta700, 34 43000

wyw.neschalliein.com
EMAIL: infofZnentallklein com
PHONE 260540344 4 FAX: 269540848

CLIENTAENDOR APPROVAL

DATE: 1221/05  CLIENT. IMA LOCATION; RQ | = (K TCFELESEAFTHORC
JOE REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM Merch Prd Catalog [J1 05 T0 SUBMIT WITH ABOVE
CORRECTIONS

ARTWORK NAME: {M Merchandising Catalog 0-1.al
SUBSTRATE: Catelog

FONTS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskervile
DIMENSIONS; L2 xW55  xH 85
QUALITY CONTROL CREATIVE DIRECTOR

[0 PLEASE SUBME HEW LAYOWTiS)

ACCOUNE MANAGER

% PLEASE NOTE:

Hewrball Kieln, Inc., {NK), makes every effon to ensure that the lexd, artwork, phofos and color of yeut project are comect pria (o produttion, Howaver,
inasthuch a5 we ace nod conlracting the pre-press andvar print preduclion. we retuire that cach desigrated representative review and apprave a color
conltagt pregt and taidettebnmed blueline, provided by the printer, prioe to printing. NK shal be Smited Lo corieciing its own product 2s outiingd in
our estiniate. Newhall Klein, Inc.. assumes na legat ar financial responsibflity for content erats ot omissions on the final prinfed product.

MAGENTA YELLOW

BLACK

CYAN

Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Roberf Fontana



s

FROOFIS HDTMVDME EEPRESE-PHF.!'II!H OF COLOR OR EISAL PRINT QUALITY

NEWHALL KLEININC.  www pestalldin com CLIENTVENDOR APPROVAL
8109 WEST K1 AVENUE EMAIL: tglonenhalileincom
EALAHA200, M1 900 BHONE: 260,54 0854 1 EAY: 209 50848

DATE: 122105 CLIENT: [MA LOCATION: G| (¥TOPLERERTHORG | pageima vewow
JOB REFERENCE: 4672 SHAM Merch Prod Catalog Do

ARTWORK NAME: GM Merchandising Catalog 4-5.ai

SUBSTRATE: Catalog (3 PLEASE SUBMITNEW WODITSHL "y e eyt

TONTS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskervile
DIMENSIONS: Lnfa  xW55  xH 85
QUALITY CONTROL CREATIVE DIRECTOR | ACCOUNT MANAGER

riakes every effort o ensure that the text, artrork, photos and colac af yaur project are comect privs Lo produstion. Howeyes,
Inasmuch 25 we are Nt centracling the pre-press andier print prodiclion, we reqaire that eagh Crsignated represeitative review and 2porev a oolor
conlrant prool and fodedArinimed bingimie, prowdded by the printer. priar to priating. N shall be limited 1o cermedtiog its own produst as ewtlined in
Sut estimale. Newhall Kiein, Inc. assumies no legal ot financial responsillify for conlent emors or omissions on the final printed product.

——Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana
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IMAL DOC 4 CM Merchandising Catalog
o i

ed. 'seasoned,

e and cooked just right -

l PRODFIS KO AN ECEEF SEPRSSEATATIL DF G308 0% FeL 247 GGALTY - T
l NEWHALLKLEININC.  weyrstalieincrn CUENTVENDOR AFFROVAL | i
k 6108 WEST KL AVENUR EMAIL: info@newhallilein.com
FALABAZDO, M1 45800 PHONE 26954 0844 » FAY: 209 5440648 R :
DATE: 12:21/05  CLIENT: IMiA LOCATION: RG | VO EESERTIE | wacenra velLow
JOB REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM March Prod Catalog O ggg%%uﬁadﬂg WITH ABDVE
ARTWORK NAME: CM Merchandising Catalog 2-3.3i
SUISTRATE, Catdng DIPERESTITHN LTS Bemck e

FONIS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskervilie
i DIMENSIONS: Lna  xW55  xH 85
i QUABTY CONTROL CREATIVEDIRECTOR | ACCOUNT MANAGER

DATE

Hewhall KBein, Inc., (NK), makes avery eltort to easvre Lhat the (e, artwork, photos. and color of yoar projec 2re coviedt grioi ta production. Howsyer,
inasmuch 35 we are nel contrasting the pre-press and/or prial production, wt: require that each designated representaive review and approve 2 color
contrat prott and fokdeddrimme busling, provided by fhe priner, prior lo priating. NK shal be fimited lo corecing its own product as outlined in
our 2stimate. Rewhall Klela, lnc., assumes no legal or financlal tesponsibiifty for conlent eors o omisslgns on the fina printed progucl.

— Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



IMAL DOG 4 CM Merchandising Catalog 4

oy

| ; e ; ; : e e e
FROOF 5 HOT AR EXACT REPRESENTATEC OF COLOR OR FRAL PRINT GURLITY

NEWHALLKEEININC.  wwnestielldein.com CLIENTVENDOR APPROVAL
G109 WEST KL AVENUE EMAIL: tnloZnewhallRleincom

FALAMAZOO, M1 48000 THONE: 269.544.0834 « FAX: 269 344.0843 :
DATE: 122105 CLIENT: IMA LOCATION: Re. |~ X WRLEASEARHERE | paceena vertow
JOB REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM Merch Prod Catalog O Eggl{I}ESC%WST WITH ABOVE
ARTWORK NAME: CM Merchandising Catalog 6-7.zi :
SUISTRATE: Catalog DIMESEBMTEN TS “Slace  cvan

| FONTS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskervile
DIMENSIONS: Lafa  xW55  xH &5
; QUALITY CONTROL CREAFTVE DIRECTOR | ACCOUNT MANAGER

% PLEASE NOTE:

Newwhal Klein, Ine., (¥K), makes every lfort to ensure thal the tzxl. asoek, phalas and colar ot your projact are comect prior to production. Hoveves,
inasmuch as w2 &k Nt eontracting e pre-press and/or print production, we requise (hat sagh designated representative review 2nd Jppree a color
sontiac! proct and Telded immed biugline, provided by the printer, prior fo prisking. NK shalt be inkied lo comecting is pan product 2 wifired in
T estimate. Newhall Kigin, Inc., assurses no Jagal er financla respansibility ot coirtent errors o emissions on Ihe fnal printed prodect

-Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



CM Merchandising Catalog

Outdoor

NEWHALL KLEININC. oo newhalieit.oon
6109 WEST KL AVENUE UL infonewalidein.com
PHONE: 260,54 034 + FAX: 260.544.0948

CLIENTVENDOR APPROVAL

LOCATION; RC

[ BK 70 RELEASE ARTWORK

JOB REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM Merch Prod Catelog

[ 73 OK TOSUBMIT WiTH ABOVE

ARTWORK NAME: CM Merchandising Catalog 8-%.ai

GORRECTIONS

[T PLEASE SURMT NEW LAYOUTES)

sWis  xH 85

CREATIVE DIRECTOR

Newhall Kiein, lac., {HK), makes every effort Lo esura ot Lhe lex), artwork, phiotos and coks of:
inasmlIch 25 we are noi conlracting the pre-press andior print production, we Tequie it eath
<omract proaf arel foldedvEmencd biveline, provided by Ue printer, iioe 10 printing. K. shall be lited to romecting s owh poodst 25 cutined i
our eslimate. Hewhall Kiein, Inc,. assumes no begal of financial sesponsiiity for codtort cors of omisslons on t final printed produel

ACCOUNT MARAGER

‘Yout prtjettane comec prioe 10 prodoction, Hosierer,
dosignated representative review and appoove 3 tolor

'\_.,f"
..
|
i
FALAJAZOO, M3 45809
DATE: 01106106 CLIENT: IMA
SUBSTRATE: Catalog
| FONTS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskenville
; DIMENSIONS: L fa
QUALITY CONTROL
% PLEASE NOTE:
i
%,

MAGENTA YELLOW

BLACK

CYAN

. Defendant IMA's .Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana
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 Marketing ’g[lll_;mﬂ = Houston, TX 77079
ndent Maikeling Alliance. .- - -
leiione WMorke™ Srand is.o fodematk - .
Fleidepenidint Morketing Allionte -

FRODFS KOT A EXACT REPRESENTATION OF COLOR OR FINAL PRINT QUALRTY
NEWHALL KLEININC.  wwscnewkellllein.com CLIENT/VENDOR APPROVAL
300 WEST KL AVENLE EMAIL: infoRBuewhall Kein.com
FALAMAEOO, M1 43309 PHIONE: 26954 06H + FAX: 269 544.0848
DATE: 122105  CLINT. IMA LOCATION Rp 1 0¥ O RLEASEARTIORK
JOB REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM Merch Prod Catalog [ % ggﬁ&%ﬁg WITH ABOVE
ARTWORK NAME: CM Merchandising Catalog Cov.ai
SUBSTRATE: (Gatalog LTABSESUMTMEN LAHITS] "5 ek cvam
FONTS: Clearface, Futura, NewBaskervifle
DIMENSIONS: Lrfa  xW565 xH 85
QUALITY CONTROL CREATIVE DIRECTOR

MAGENTA YELLOW

ACCOUNT MANAGER

% PLEASE HOTE:

Wewhall Kein, Inc., (K), makes every effort 1o ensure hal (he tesi, artwork, photos and calor ol your project are cammee! pias 48 production, Howeves,
imasmuch as we ae aol cantracting Ihe pre-press endfor print production, we raquire that each designated representatie review and approve a color
contiact proat and foldedrimmed uzkne, provided by the priales, prior to primting., KK shafl be Erlted 12 comecting s o4 produc) a5 avllined in
our estimale. Hewhall Kein, Inc., assumes no legal or finangial responsibilty foe conteni emors or omissions on the final printed product.

.. Defendant IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana



iMAL DOC 4

CM Merchandising Catalog N

QUANTITY PRICE TOTAL

Kit Replacement Ifems o 1.
Wall Poster (choose from 6, enter guantity in the spaces pravided}

___Pickles __Sliced Meats __Ham

___Prepared Salads ___Turkey __Cheese
Counter Talker (choose from 6, enter quantity in the spaces provided)

__Pickles . Sliced Meats ___Ham

___.Prepared Salads ___Turkey __ Cheese
Pickle Jar

Visor - Blue, 1/€ loge

Hat - Blue. 1/C logo

Price Tag

Price Tag Holder

Door Static Cling - 11" x 17" reverse

Window Static Cling — 4" x 5.5"

Apron - Blue, 1/C logo

Ceiling Dangler ~ 11" circle, 4/C loge on hoth sides & string hole

Deli Case Static Cling - 17" x 5.5, 4/C togo with blue backgreund

Flexible Outdoor Sign ~ 3" x 5' single sided w/ banner grommiets

Center Menu Board - 20" x 37.5", 4/C logo

Side Menu Board - 20" x 32°, 1/C logo

Server Butfon - 2.25" round, white, 1/C logo

a la Carte Additional Items Available

T-shirt - 50/50 blend, blue. 1/C logo findicate size and gquantity)

__ Small —_ Medium __large . X-Large

Polo Shirt - 65/35 pique knit. blue. 4/C loge {indicate size and quantity)
___Small ___Medium __lLarge . X-lLarge

Table Umbrella - 105" x 567, 1/C logo

Luncheon Napkins — 137 % 17, 2-ply, I/C loge, 1/6 fold

Sandwich Wrap - 14" x 14°, white, grease resistant

Sandwich Wrap Stickers — 2" gval, 500 roll, 1/C logo

Shipping & Handling:

TOTAL (this side}

Motbi eommodo. ipsum sed pharetra gravida, orci magna rhoncus neque,
it] puivinar odic lorem nen turpis. Morbi commodo, ipsum sed pharetra
gravida, orci magna rhoncus neque, id pulvinar odio lorem non turpis.

TOTAL (from side 1}
SUBTOTAL

Defendan

[ ORDER FO

ol

SHIPPING & HANDLING
TOTAL

TROOF IS KT AIEXACT REFRESERTATION OF CGLOR OR FIKAL PRINT CUALITY

P4 | NEWHALL KLEIN INC. s gewhallkein com
k { §109 WEST KL AVENUE EWATL infolwerhall Keincom
k KALAMAZO0, M143003 PHONE: 268.541.06H « FAX: 269.541,0848

DATE: 01/06/06  CLIENT: IMA& LOCATION: RC

JOB REFERENCE: 4912 SHAM Merch Prod Catelog

ARTWORK NAME: CM MerCatalog OrderForm.ai

SUBSTRATE: Paper, front & back

FONIS: Clearface

DIMENSIONS: 1 iWBS  xH "

CLIENTVENDOR. APPROVAL -
1 0K TG RELEASE ARTWORK
BLACK

71 0K TO SUBMIT WITH ABOVE
GORREGTIING

L] PLEASE SUBMIT NEW LAYOUTIS)

QUALITY CONTROL | CREATTVEDIRECTOR | ACCOUNT MANAGER

% PLEASE NOTE:

Newhahi dein, Inc., {HKJ, makes every effoct Io-ensure shat the texn, avtviork, nholos and color of Yoar project are coecs prior o prociaction. However,
inasmixh a5 e 2re not tontratling e pre-ress andior print predutlion, we require that sach designaled repeesentalive review 204 approve a color
<onircl peoof and fakdedArimened blueiing, providad by the prnee, prio to pting, N shall be Frited to comerting its o peodutt 25 tutined i
our estinate. Newhall Klein, Inc, assumes no fegal o financial responsibibty foi contenl enoes of omvissions on the fina] prinied produs,

S Irial Testmony o

ert Fontana



o
%

Customer Information

Name

Company

Street Address

Phone _(_}

City : State_ - ZIP

Emaif

Instructions: .
Morbi commado, ipsum sed pharetra gravida, orcl magna rhancus neque, id pulvinar odlo Jorem non turpis.
Marbi commedo, ipsum sed pharetra gravida, orei magna rhancus neque, id pulvinar odio lorem nos turpis.

CKITS -

KIT 1: Great Basic Setup

L Wall Poster (chouse 1 from 6}
DPli_:kles {71 Sliced Meats Ham ] Prepared Salads DTurkey [Icheese
1 Counter Tatker (clmo._se 1 from 6}

I Pickles []sticed Meats [JHam DPrepare_d Salads [)Turkey [JCheese
1 Pickle Jar, 5 Visars. 5 Hats, 5 Aprons, 12 Price Tags, 12 Price Tag Holders,
1 Door Static Cling, 2 Window Static Clings

RIT 2: Impress Customers

3 Wall Posters (choose 3 from 6)
[Trickles []Sliced Meats [ JHam [ ] Prepared Salads [QTurkey [T]Cheese
2 Counter Talkers (chouse 2 from 6}

[CiPickles []Slced Meats [JHam [} Prepared Salads CTurkey  [Jeheese
1 Pickle Jar, & Visors, 8 Hats, B Aprons, 24 Price Tags; 24 Price Tag Holders,
1 Door Static Cling, 4 Window Static Clings, 1 Cefling Dangler, 5 Deli Case Stalic Clings

XXX

KIT 3: Everything You Need

4 Wall Posters fchoose ¢ from 6}

[Jpickles [ JSlicedMeats [ Ham []Prepared Salads [Oturkey JcCheese
2 Counter Talkers (choose 2 from 6}

[CiPickles D Sliced Meats D Hem [J Prepared Salads DTurkey DCheese
1 Pickle Jar, 10 Visors, 10 Hats, 1@ Aprons, 24 Price Tags, 24 Price Tag Holders,
1 Door Static Cling, 4 Window Static Clings; 2 Ceiling Danglers, 10 Deli Case Static Clings,
1 Flexible Outdoor Sign, 1 Center Menu Board, 2 Side Menu Boards, 25 Server Buttons

SXXX XX

|

R

o

FO

' ORDER

PROGE IS NOT 4 EXACT REPRESENTATIGN OF COLIR OR FINAL PRIAT QALY

FONES: Clearface
DIMENSIONS: L xWBS  xH I
QUAETTY CONTROL CREATIVE DIRECTOR

ACCOUNT MANAGER

Hewhall Kein, Ing., (1K), makes evesy eoL 0 extsure that the texd. artork phatos and ol of your projest are comee prior 10 production. However,
inasmuch 25 e 2r2 10t CoNtratting (he pre-fress anifor peird produttion, quire: Lhat, each desi ives rev for
coact proot and foldedtuimmed blusline, provided by the printer, prioc 1o printing. NK shal be limied 1o comecting its cun product 5 outlingd in
our estimale. Newhall Kein, Inc., assumes no fegal o7 financisl Tesponsiblily for conteat efrors oF omissions & 1he final prinled product.

Defendant-IMA's Trial Testimony of Robert Fontana

I|‘r NEWHALL RLEVING,— smeteliomens CLIENTVENDUR APPROVAL

l ‘ S103 WEST KL AVENUE THAIL inlo@uewchallkleéincom

L. KALAMAZOO, M149000 PHONE: 268 5440844 » FAX: 260 54,8848 "

DATE: O1/0606  CLIENT: A TOCATION: e | v Raesensnk | B
]OE REFERENCE: 4612 SHAM Merch Prod Calalag || gﬁg}(}]&i{ﬁ%{g WITH ABGVE

ARTWORK NAME: CM MerCatalog OrderForm.af

SUBSTRATE: Pape, from & back L0 LEASE SUBMIT KB LAYOUT(S




